
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SELECT COMMITTEE REVIEW – MENTAL HEALTH 
 

Tuesday 7 March 2023 & Wednesday 8 March 2023 

10.00 am 

Council House 

 

Members: 

Councillors Mrs Aspinall, Harrison, Laing, McDonald, McLay, Murphy, Noble, Reilly, 

Conservative Vacancy, Conservative Vacancy, Conservative Vacancy, Conservative Vacancy, & 

Independent Alliance Vacancy.  

 

 

 

Members are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business overleaf. 

For further information on attending Council meetings and how to engage in the democratic 

process please follow this link - Get Involved 

 

 

 
Tracey Lee 

Chief Executive 

 

 
Oversight and Governance 

Chief Executive’s Department 

Plymouth City Council 

Ballard House 

Plymouth  PL1 3BJ 

 

Please ask for Elliot Wearne-Gould 

T 01752  305155 

E democraticsupport@plymouth.gov.uk 

www.plymouth.gov.uk 

Published 27 February 2023 

https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/councillorscommitteesandmeetings/getinvolved
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/councillorscommitteesandmeetings


 

Select Committee Review 
 

 

Agenda 

  

1. Appointment of Chair and Vice-Chair:    

 

2. Apologies    

  

 To receive apologies for non-attendance submitted by Members. 

  

3. Declarations of Interest    

  

 Members will be asked to make any declarations of interest in respect of items on this 

agenda. 

  

4. Chair's Urgent Business    

  

 To receive reports on business, which in the opinion of the Chair, should be brought 

forward for urgent consideration. 

  

5. Select Committee Review Plan:   (Pages 1 - 4) 

 

6. Mental Health Needs Assessment - Summary:   (Pages 5 - 18) 

 

7. Mental Health Needs Assessment - Full Document:   (Pages 19 - 80) 

 

8. Plymouth Suicide Audit Summary 2019 - 2021:   (To Follow) 

 

9. Witnesses:    

 

10. Recommendations:    

 

 



 

 OFFICIAL 

OFFICIAL 

SELECT COMMITTEE REVIEW PLAN 
Overview and Scrutiny

 

SELECT COMMITTEE TOPIC 

MENTAL HEALTH 

Raised by  - 
Health and Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee 

 

Purpose of Review 

Review of mental health services across the city to include: 

 Setting the Scene – City Needs and User Experiences 

 Prevention and Wellbeing 

 Children and Young People 

 Transition 

 Adult and Older People  

 

Select Committee Membership 

Councillors: 

 

Labour (6) Conservative (5) Green (1) Independent 

Alliance (1) 

Total (13) 

Aspinall 

Laing 

Reilly  

McDonald 

Murphy 

Noble 

 

Harrison 

Vacancy 

Vacancy  

Vacancy  

Vacancy 

McLay Vacancy  

 

 

Process 

Methodology/Approach Setting The Scene: 

1. Key themes from the Pandemic Mental Health Needs 

Assessment; 

2. Plymouth Suicide Audit Summary; 

3. Healthwatch Views; 

4. Youth Parliament, Plymouth. 

 

Prevention and Wellbeing: 

1. Public Health Initiatives; 

 5 Ways to Wellbeing  

 Qwell Online Service 

 Suicide Prevention Initiatives 
2. The Role of the Voluntary and Community Sector;  

 Devon Mental Health Alliance 

 Dementia Support in Plymouth 

Page 1 Agenda Item 5



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

SELECT COMMITTEE REVIEW PLAN Page 2 of 3 

OFFICIAL 

3. Provider Collaborates - Mental Health Provision at System 

and Place (Scene Setting). 

 

Children and Young People: 

1. Emotional Health and Wellbeing- Overview;  

2. CAMHS; 

 Front Door to Service  

 CAMHS waiting times  

 Workforce  
3. System Initiatives for Children and Young People. 

 

Transitions: 

 1.  16-25, Managing Change. 

 

Adult Mental Health: 

1. System initiatives for Adults and Older People; 

2. Perinatal; 

3. Mental Health Overview – Performance Update; 

4. First Response Service Update; 

5. Psych Liaison Progress Update – next phase; 

6. Urgent Care Pathway improvements (FUSE, A2ED and 

HTT);  

7. Working with Primary Care and the Community Mental 

Health Framework;   

8. Dementia care; 

9. Veterans Support 

 

Sources of 

Information/Evidence 

Mental Health Needs Assessment 

 

Consultation Exercises N/A 

Witness/Expert Participation Sarah Lees - Public Health 

Tony Gravett MBE - Healthwatch Devon, Plymouth and Torbay 

Jenny Way – Youth Parliament 

Sara Mitchell - Livewell SW 

Emma Crowther – Plymouth City Council 

Olivia Craig – Devon Mind 

Rob Smith – Improving Lives Plymouth  

Louise Barnes – Elder Tree Befriending  

Kate Smith – Memory Matters 

Louise Arrow – NHS Devon 

Tracy Clasby – Livewell SW 

 

The group may decide to call further witnesses as appropriate. 

 

Site Visits N/A 

Resource Requirements Will be met through existing scrutiny resources.  

 

Post Review 

Reporting Process The Select Committee will operate under powers delegated by the 

Health and Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee and 

will make recommendations directly to Health Service Organisations.   

Page 2



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

SELECT COMMITTEE REVIEW PLAN Page 3 of 3 

OFFICIAL 

Anticipated Completion Date March 2023 

Meeting Frequency To take place over 2 days  

Dates of Meetings 7 and 8 March 2023 

Further Information  

 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 1 of 14 
 

OFFICIAL 

 

COVID-19 ADULT MENTAL HEALTH NEEDS 

ASSESSMENT FOR PLYMOUTH 

SUMMARY 

2021 

 

BACKGROUND 

The COVID-19 pandemic and the control measures to reduce transmission have impacted 

on almost all aspects of our lives. This is having profound health, economic and social 

consequences, all of which will impact on our mental health and wellbeing now and into the 

future. Moreover, these impacts are experienced differently by different groups. There is a 

risk that the pandemic may increase and entrench mental health inequalities that existed and 

were widening before the pandemic. It is crucial that we increase our knowledge of the 

broad impacts of the pandemic on mental health and wellbeing and the population groups 

that are more greatly affected. This will enable the mental health needs of our population 

and the hardest hit groups to be recognised and monitored so that appropriate support can 

be provided to mitigate the impact.  

The aim of this needs assessment is to bring together what is known nationally and locally 

about the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on mental health and wellbeing needs in adults 

and to make recommendations to the local system to improve the mental health of our 

population. This is achieved by: 

 Outlining the baseline mental health and wellbeing profile for Plymouth prior to the 

COVID-19 pandemic. 

 Reviewing the emerging evidence on the impact of the pandemic on mental health on 

the population as a whole and on particularly vulnerable groups. 

 Assessing how the pandemic may affect mental health needs in the future. 

 Gathering perspectives from mental health service providers in Plymouth. 

 Providing evidence-based recommendations. 

The evidence presented has been brought together from what was available between 

November 2020 and May 2021. New evidence will emerge, and the situation of the 

pandemic will change after this time period, which then may supersede some of the findings. 

 

PLYMOUTH PROFILE 

Understanding the population of Plymouth is fundamental to providing mental health 

services and support in the city. 263,070 people are estimated to live in Plymouth according 

Page 5 Agenda Item 6



 

Page 2 of 14 
 

OFFICIAL 

to the Office for National Statistics (ONS) mid-year estimate 2017. The population of 

Plymouth is expected to grow to around 274,300 by 2034. Figure 1 shows that many areas 

in Plymouth are in the most deprived quintile nationally and that there is a greater level of 

deprivation in Plymouth compared to the England average. Furthermore, the map highlights 

the wide variation across the city.  

 

MENTAL HEALTH AND WELLBEING 

Good mental health is more than just the absence of mental disorders but is an essential 

component of good health. Mental health is a state of wellbeing in which an individual 

realises their own abilities, can cope with the normal stresses of life, can work productively 

and is able to make a contribution to their community. Wellbeing can be described as the 

balance point between an individual’s and community’s resource pool and challenges faced. 

Stable wellbeing is when individuals or communities have the psychological, social and 

physical resources they need to meet particular psychological, social and/or physical 

challenges. Good mental health and wellbeing is strongly influenced by the conditions in 

which people are born, grow, live, work and age. Promoting mental wellbeing and 

supporting mental ill health is essential not only for individuals and their families, but to 

society as a whole. In the UK: 

 One in four people will experience mental illness in their lifetime. 

 One in six people experience mental illness at any one time. 

Figure 1: (A) Map of Plymouth showing 2017 electoral wards (bold lines) and lower super output 

areas by deprivation.  

(B) Graph showing proportion of Plymouth residents living in the five deprivation quintiles, compared 

to England.  

Darker green areas indicate higher areas of deprivation. 

Lines represent electoral wards (2017). Quintiles shown for 2011 based lower super output areas (LSOAs). 

Contains OS data © Crown Copyright and database rights 2018. Contains public sector information 

licensed under the Open Government Licence v3.0 

Source: PHE Plymouth Health Profile 2018 

A B 

Page 6



 

Page 3 of 14 
 

OFFICIAL 

 75% of mental health conditions in adult life (excluding dementia) start by the age of 

24. 

 Mental ill health is estimated to cost the UK economy £105 billion a year in health 

care and loss of productivity costs. 

Within the population there are also significant avoidable inequalities in mental health 

problems that exist between groups based on personal characteristics, stage of life and 

conditions of living. 

 

 

MENTAL HEATLH AND WELLBEING PRE-COVID 

These baseline (pre-pandemic) mental health statistics and outcomes in Plymouth are 

summarised in Table 1:  

Table 1: Summary of baseline mental health indicators in Plymouth prior to the COVID-19 

pandemic 

Indicator Plymouth Comparison to England 

Prevalence of common mental 

disorders (2017) 
18.2 % Significantly worse 

Low life satisfaction score 

(2019/20) 
4.0% Statistically similar 

Low worthwhile score (2019/20) 3.8% Statistically similar 

Low happiness score (2019/20) 7.7% Statistically similar 

High anxiety score (2019/20) 22.2% Statistically similar 

Emergency hospital admissions for 

intentional self-harm (2019/20) 
244.0 per 100,000 Significantly worse 

Suicide rate (2017-2019) 11.7 per 100,000 Statistically similar 

Excess under 75 mortality rate in 

adults with serious mental illness 

(2015-2017) 

269.9% Significantly better 

 

This indicates that before the pandemic across a variety of metrics mental 

health and wellbeing in Plymouth was generally in line with or worse than 

national rates. In Plymouth the excess premature mortality in those with serious mental 

illness is significantly better than the national average, but this metric still highlights the 

poorer health outcomes experienced by those with mental health problems.  

  

Page 7



 

Page 4 of 14 
 

OFFICIAL 

MENTAL HEALTH SERVICES 

Plymouth is part of the NHS Devon Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). Livewell South 

West are commissioned to provide health and social care services in Plymouth and deliver 

all specialist mental health services within Plymouth, including inpatient psychiatric units and 

Community Mental Health Teams (CMHTs). Plymouth City Council commission a number 

of mental health services that promote good mental health and support people with lower 

levels of need. There is also a network of community sector and private organisations that 

are brought together by the Plymouth Mental Health Network.  

 

MENTAL HEALTH AND WELLBEING DURING COVID-19 

National evidence for changes to mental health and wellbeing due to the COVID-19 

pandemic is monitored and presented by the Public Health England (PHE) COVID-19 mental 

health and wellbeing surveillance report. This is regularly updated and triangulates available 

evidence from weekly data and academic research. The evidence so far suggests that at 

a population level mental health and wellbeing worsened at the start of the 

pandemic in spring 2020. This was followed by a recovery in the summer of 2020 

as lockdown was eased, but not to pre-pandemic baselines. More recent 

evidence suggests a further decline in population mental health in the winter of 

2020/21. There is no evidence of changes in rates of self-harm or suicide since the start of 

the pandemic, although there is some evidence of increases in self-harming thoughts and 

behaviours in some risk groups. This includes those who have experienced abuse or have 

financial worries.  

The evidence suggests that the mental health of certain groups of people have been 

disproportionately affected by the pandemic. These groups are shown in Box 1.  

 

Box 1: Groups at risk of mental ill health since the start of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

 Young adults 

 Females 

 Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) men 

 Adults living with children, in particular lone mothers 

 Adults with pre-existing mental health conditions 

 Adults with pre-existing physical health conditions 

 Older adults who were recommended to shield 

 Older adults with multi-comorbidities 

 Adults who are socially isolated 

 Adults with low household income or relative socio-economic position 

 Adults who experienced loss of income, especially the self-employed 

 Adults with financial worries 

 Carers (formal and informal) 

 Frontline health and care staff 

Page 8



 

Page 5 of 14 
 

OFFICIAL 

Many of these are groups that before the pandemic were at higher risk of mental health 

problems, demonstrating the potential of the pandemic to increase mental health 

inequalities.  

The total number of GP diagnoses of depression decreased in the pandemic. This is 

concerning because undiagnosed depression is risk factor for suicide. GP diagnoses of 

depression as a proportion of all GP diagnoses has increased. 

 

 

FUTURE MENTAL HEALTH NEED 

The changes in mental health seen so far may not be the full extent of the impact of the 

pandemic on mental health. This is because:  

 It may be too early to see some of the impacts of the pandemic on mental health. 

 The ongoing challenge of the pandemic may continue to affect mental health. 

 The pandemic may have environmental, cultural and socio-economic impacts, which 

in turn will continue to impact mental health. Examples include the possibility of 

recession, rise in unemployment and rise in deprivation.  

Predicting any future changes is fraught with many uncertainties but may signal areas that 

need closer monitoring.  

The Centre for Mental Health report predicts that as a direct result of the pandemic, up to 

8.5 million adults in England (almost 20% of that population) will need either new or 

additional mental health support. The vast majority of these will be in people who have 

existing mental health conditions or the general population. Other groups identified were 

NHS works, the bereaved and the unemployed. In Plymouth these figures equate to 

almost 27,000 of the estimated 39,000 people with common mental disorders 

requiring additional support and over 17,000 from the general population 

requiring new support for mainly moderate-severe depression or anxiety. 

However, it is unclear from the model what the level of need will be and the timeframes for 

when people may need services. In addition, the model is due to be updated in May 2021 

with more current evidence, but at the time of writing, this is not yet available.  

There are a number of risk and protective factors that are well known to 

influence mental health. The pandemic is likely to adversely affect many of these 

factors and so will adversely affect mental health into the future. Strengthening 

protective factors and minimising risk factors provides a focus for action by which the 

mental health demands and needs can be addressed in the recovery from the pandemic.  

The protective and risk factors, their pre-pandemic level in Plymouth and the impact of the 

pandemic on them are summarised in Table 2: 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 9



 

Page 6 of 14 
 

OFFICIAL 

Table 2: The impact of the pandemic on risk (A) and protective (B) factors for mental health. 

Red = statistically worse than England average, Amber = statistically similar to England average. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(A) Risk factor Metric 

Pre-pandemic 

level in 

Plymouth 

Impact of pandemic  

Deprivation 

and inequality 

Deprivation 

score  
26.6 Likely to worsen 

Unemployment 

and poor 

working 

conditions 

Unemployment 

rate  
4.5% 

Likely to worsen 

Large (75%) increase in people 

in Plymouth claiming Universal 

Credit 

Poverty and 

financial 

insecurity 

Living in 

income-deprived 

household  

16.3% 

Likely to worsen 

Increased calls to Advice 

Plymouth for debt advice 

Poor housing 

and 

homelessness 

Statutory 

homelessness  
2.6 per 100,000 

Improved with initiative to 

provide accommodation for 

homeless people, but may 

increase in future due to 

economic impacts and end 

eviction protection 

Crime and 

violence 

Violent offences 

Sexual offences 

36.5 per 100,000 

3.7 per 100,000 

 

National increase in domestic 

abuse-related offences 

Alcohol 

consumption 

Hospital 

admissions for 

alcohol-related 

conditions 

636 per 100,000 

Likely to worsen in risk 

groups 

National increase in alcohol-

related mortality in 2020 

(B) Protective 

factor 
Metric 

Pre-pandemic 

level in 

Plymouth 

Impact of pandemic  

Community 

wellbeing and 

social capital 

Adult social care 

users who have 

as much social 

contact as they 

would like 

41.4% 

Unclear. Reduced ability to 

meet people, but examples of 

increased community 

cohesion 

Physical 

activity and use 

of outdoor 

space 

Physically active 

adults 

Physically 

inactive adults 

65.9% 

 

19.7% 

 

Likely to worsen in risk 

groups  

Page 10



 

Page 7 of 14 
 

OFFICIAL 

PERSPECTIVES OF MENTAL HEALTH PROVIDERS IN PLYMOUTH 

A series of structured but open meeting with ten providers of mental health and affiliated 

services were held in December 2020 to inform this needs assessment. These providers, 

listed in Table 4, were in both the statutory and third sector.  

Table 3: Mental health service providers in Plymouth interviewed as part of this needs assessment 

Service Brief description 

Livewell South 

West Mental 

Health 

Providers of statutory mental health services in the city, which 

includes (but not exclusively) the inpatient unit, CMHTs, Improving 

Access to Psychological Therapy (IAPT), and the First Response 

Team (a new service set up in May 2020 as a crisis advice line). 

Advice 

Plymouth 

A charity that delivers an advice an information service around 

many areas including, benefit and tax, employment, housing, money 

and debt. 

Colebrook 

Support 

Services 

Support Services forms a part of the wider Colebrook organisation 

and provides supported accommodation, support to vulnerable 

people in the community to develop independence and skills via a 

number of different services. 

Colebrook Head 

Space 

Head Space offers an out-of-hours service for people who consider 

that they are approaching a mental health crisis, where individuals 

can access peer support in a non-clinical, safe environment. 

Rethink 

Plymouth 

A charity that provides a range of support including a variety of 

group and one-to-one support for people affected by mental illness. 

Devon Mind 
A charity that provides advice and support to empower anyone in 

Devon experiencing a mental health problem. 

Wolseley Trust 

A business and Community Economic Development Trust that 

provides the social prescribing service to the majority of the 

primary care networks in Plymouth.  

Elder Tree 

Befriending 

A charity that provides a befriending service for vulnerable and 

socially isolated people over the age of 50 and aims to engage their 

beneficiaries in social engagement activities close to where they live 

to generate peer support.  

Community 

Connections 

A multi-disciplinary team within the Local Authority that work with 

and in communities to support and empower citizens to make 

sustainable change in their lives. This includes working with people 

who are homeless or at risk of homelessness.  

Community 

Connections 

Youth Team   

Work with young people in Plymouth who are up to 25 where 

there is a need, delivering range of services, projects and facilities 

including youth centres, street-based youth work, and a young 

carers project, a group aimed at young people on the autistic 

spectrum.  

 

 

Page 11



 

Page 8 of 14 
 

OFFICIAL 

A collated summary of these discussions is presented below: 

 Service delivery models: There has been a rapid change to remote service 

delivery to support clients since the start of the pandemic, with limited ongoing face 

to face work at a reduced capacity when possible for specific needs. Remote delivery 

was good for some individuals due to the convenience of access; however, other 

individuals would prefer or need face to face interaction. Providers generally 

considered remote interactions to be of poorer quality due to the difficulties of 

building a relationship and trust and ability to pick up on non-verbal cues and 

additional or hidden issues.   

 Level of need: Some providers reported that they were managing a higher level of 

need through their phone lines than they were equipped to. 

 Demand: Changes in demand and need since the start of the pandemic are difficult 

to accurately quantify because of the changes in service delivery models. Demand 

generally fell at the start of the pandemic and increased thereafter. In some cases, 

this demand has stayed below pre-pandemic levels, but in others it is has overtaken 

pre-pandemic levels. There is also a suggestion that reduced access to mental health 

services during the pandemic may be increasing mental health needs.  

 Ability to meet demand: At the time, providers felt that they are able to meet 

the need that they are faced with, however, there are signs of increasing need across 

many services. 

 Challenges; Challenges for providers include staff wellbeing, recruitment and 

retention, having meaningful engagements with clients, reduced capacity, difficulty 

keeping up with guidance, circular signposting, difficulties for individuals to access 
formal mental health services at the time of need, poor transitions between services, 

uncertainty about the future and resources, escalation of needs due to the pandemic 

and additional stressors, such as the British Exit from the European Union.  

 Improvements: Potential service and system improvements suggested were: a 

blended approach of face to face and remote delivery, strengthening of collaboration 

between mental health teams, primary care, social prescribers and VCSEs, 

strengthening of public mental health, prevention and early intervention, clear 

messaging about services available, greater awareness of trauma informed practice, 

strengthening of organisations working at a community level, wider consultation with 

the community to understand needs, issues and concerns, and improving outdoor 

space for young people.   

 

CONCLUSIONS FROM EVIDENCE AND INTELLIGENCE 

Bringing all of these findings together, this report finds a number of conclusions: 

 It is likely to be too early to see the extent of the mental health impact of 

the COVID-19 pandemic. Further evidence is likely to emerge in the coming 

months and years and therefore the evidence base for the impact of the pandemic 

on mental health will become more robust. Furthermore, the future of the pandemic 

is uncertain and therefore the ongoing impact on mental health is also uncertain. 

 Current national evidence and data suggests that already population level mental 

health and wellbeing is being negatively affected by the pandemic. 

Page 12



 

Page 9 of 14 
 

OFFICIAL 

 Whilst the pandemic is a collective trauma the burden of distress is greater in 

certain groups. The evidence shows that the mental health and wellbeing of some 

specific groups is disproportionately affected. Some of these groups correlate with 
the groups that are already more vulnerable to mental health issues and so there is 

a risk that the pandemic will widen and entrench mental health 

inequalities.   

 There is evidence that the pandemic is having a major impact on the risk and 

protective factors for mental health. In general, the pandemic has increased the 

risk factors for mental health problems, especially in the already more vulnerable 

groups. This may therefore lead to increasing mental health needs and increasing 

socio-economic inequalities in the future.  

 In Plymouth, mental health services have seen varying patterns of 

demand and it is difficult to draw conclusions from the intelligence we have 

so far due to the changes in service delivery and because there may be numerous 

explanations. The new First Response Unit and reduced access to GPs may have 

contributed in a reduction in referrals to the CMHTs. In contrast, some of the 

services that do not require a referral but have changed to open access telephone 

lines have seen their demand increase.  

 National modelling predicts that there will be a very significant increase 

in mental health needs as a result of the pandemic. Escalation of mental 

health needs as a result of the pandemic, may be seen across two main groups: those 

without pre-existing mental health issues and those with pre-existing mental health 

conditions.  

 Escalation of needs may occur in the general population because a large number of 

people are likely to have had additional challenges to their wellbeing as a result of 

COVID-19. Whilst most people may not develop any or only mild mental illness, if a 

proportion of these develop mental illness requiring service use, this is likely to 

lead to a large rise in demand for mental health services. 

 In the population with pre-existing mental illness, additional needs may 

develop because of the challenges of the pandemic as with the general population, 

but in addition they are more likely to have had disruption to their care during this 

time, which may contribute to relapse and/or escalating needs.  

 Local intelligence suggests that there has not been a sudden substantial increase in 

demand for mental health services in 2020. Providers are currently able to keep up 

with demand, but they are facing challenges. However, mental health is complex and 

multi-factorial. Individuals have different challenges and resources, and these have 

been affected in different ways and over a different timeframe. Therefore, a 

predicted increase in mental health needs will not happen suddenly, but is 

more likely to be a slower, gradual and insidious increase. Given the 

difficulty in managing current levels of mental health needs and the general increase 

in the prevalence of mental health conditions before the pandemic, this may in time 

become very difficult to manage in the system. 

Table 5 summarises the findings across four key indicators of mental health, looking at the 

situation in Plymouth before the pandemic and the national and local evidence for the 

impact of the pandemic on these indicators.  

Page 13



 

Page 10 of 14 
 

OFFICIAL 

Table 4: Impact of the pandemic on key indicators for mental health. 

Indicator 

Pre-

pandemic 

Plymouth 

rate 

Known impact of COVID-19 

nationally 

Impact of COVID-19 in 

Plymouth 

Prevalence of 

common mental 

disorders 

18.2 % 

 The population prevalence 

of anxiety and depression 

symptoms have likely 

increased, especially in risk 

groups. 

 There have been increases 

in loneliness, psychological 
distress and low life 

satisfaction in risk groups.  

 The proportion of GP 

diagnosed depression as a 

proportion of all GP 

diagnoses has increased. 

 Demand for open-access 

telephone and online 

support services has 

generally increased. 

 Reduced demand for IAPT 

and CMHTs but this may be 
due to new First Response 

Service. 

 General increase in risk 

factors for mental health 

may further exacerbate this 

in at risk groups.  

Self-reported 

wellbeing 

Low life satisfaction 

Low worthwhile 

Low happiness 
High anxiety 

 

 

4.0% 

3.8% 

7.7% 
22.2% 

 Evidence of increases in 

anxiety symptoms, 

psychological distress and 

low life satisfaction scores. 

 Demand for open-access 

telephone and online 

support services has 

generally increased. 

 General increase in risk 

factors for mental health 

may further exacerbate this 

in at risk groups.  

Emergency 

hospital 

admissions for 

intentional self-

harm  

244 per 

100,000  

 Currently, no significant 

changes in self-harming 

thoughts or behaviour have 

been found. However, 
certain groups have been at 

higher risk, including those 

who have suffered abuse 

and financial concerns 

 No current evidence found 

for changes in rates of self-

harming. 

 General increase in risk 

factors (e.g. unemployment) 

factors for mental health 

may lead to future increases 

in at risk groups. 

Suicide rate 
11.7 per 

100,000 

 Currently, no change in 

suicide rates have been 

found since the start of the 

pandemic, but previous 

emergencies have been 

associated with a rise in 

suicide rate.  

 No current evidence found 

for changes in rates of 

suicide. 

 Some anecdotal evidence of 

increase in suicide thoughts 

and attempts in some 

groups. 

 General increase in risk 

factors (e.g. unemployment) 

for mental health may lead 

to future increases in at risk 

groups. 

 

 

Page 14



 

Page 11 of 14 
 

OFFICIAL 

GAPS 

There are some groups, who are known to be at increased risk of mental health issues that 

are not covered in this needs assessment, either because of the scope of this report or the 

lack of evidence available either nationally or locally. It is therefore unclear how the needs of 

these groups have changed because of the pandemic and/or whether these needs are being 

met locally. These groups with gaps in intelligence include:  

 Children and young people 

 BAME groups 

 Victims of domestic abuse and crime. 

 People who are homeless or at risk of homelessness 

 Carers and healthcare workers 

 

The findings from this needs assessment suggests that particular groups that are more likely 

to have gaps in mental health support as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic: 

 Young people 

 People with pre-existing mental health conditions 

 People who have a low income, are socioeconomically deprived, unemployed and/or 

in financial debt 

 Groups with little or no digital access 

 People who work in mental health services 

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

The widespread impact of COVID-19 and the social and economic consequences of the 

pandemic have highlighted the urgent importance of promoting mental health and 

tackling mental ill health at a population level. The burden of mental illness prior to 

COVID-19 was already significant and the pandemic is widely expected to increase this 

burden and exacerbate existing mental health inequalities. 

A public mental health approach attempts to build the resources and resilience of individuals 

and communities so that they can face the challenges in their lives in order to prevent the 

onset, development and escalation of mental health problems. It aims to strengthen the 

protective factors for good mental health and reduce the risk factors for poor mental health 

at an individual and community level. This upstream approach will, in turn, impact positively 

on the NHS and social care system and there is evidence that a range of prevention 

activities are cost-effective. Targeted interventions aim to reduce mental health inequalities 

and improvement to mental health services will improve the lives of those who have 

developed mental health issues.  

 

Page 15



 

Page 12 of 14 
 

OFFICIAL 

The overriding recommendation of this health needs assessment is that key 

organisations within the Health and Care system in Plymouth should sign and 

work together to meet the commitments of the Public Health England 

Prevention Concordat for Better Mental Health. 

The consensus statement describes the commitment that is made by signatories to the 

concordat (Box 2):  

 

This would set a clear direction to the local health and social care system that 

all should work towards a tangible increase in the promotion of mental health 
and wellbeing and the prevention of mental ill health. The public health team 

should continue to provide system leadership, working within the existing multi-

agency groups and networks in the city, to co-develop a strategy and action plan 

for increasing work to promote mental health and wellbeing and prevent mental 

ill health across the system.  

The concordat provides a cross-sector focus on public mental health approaches. It also 

acknowledges the important role of people with lived experience of mental health problems.  

Box 2: The PHE Prevention Concordat for Better Mental Health consensus statement.  

The undersigned organisations agree that: 

To transform the health system, we must increase the focus on prevention and the 

wider determinants of mental health. We recognise the need for a shift towards 

prevention-focused leadership and action throughout the mental health system, and 

into the wider system. In turn, this will impact positively on the NHS and social care 

system by enabling early help through the use of upstream interventions.  

There must be joint cross-sectoral action to deliver an increased focus on the prevention 

of mental health problems and the promotion of good mental health at a local level. 

This should draw on the expertise of people with lived experience of mental health 

problems, and the wider community, to identify solutions and promote equity.  

We will promote a prevention-focused approach towards improving the public’s mental 

health, as all our organisations have a role to play.  

We will work collaboratively across organisational boundaries and disciplines to secure 

place-based improvements that are tailored to local needs and assets, in turn 

increasing sustainability and the effective use of resources.  

We will build the capacity and capability across our workforce to prevent mental health 

problems and promote good mental health, as outlined in the Public Mental Health 

Leadership and Workforce Development Framework Call to Action. 

We believe local areas will benefit from adopting the Prevention Concordat for Better 

Mental Health.  

We are committed to supporting local authorities, policy makers, NHS clinical 

commissioning groups and other commissioners, service providers, employers and the 

voluntary and community sector to adopt this concordat and its approach.  

Page 16



 

Page 13 of 14 
 

OFFICIAL 

Examples of actions that can be taken are framed around the five domains of the Prevention 

Concordat. The individual recommendations are framed around the five domains of the PHE 

Prevention Concordat for Better Mental Health.  

 

Understanding local needs and assets: 

 Share results of this needs assessment. 

 Undertaken specific children and young people COVID-19 emotional health and 

wellbeing needs assessment. 

 Continue to monitor the evidence for the impact of COVID-19 on mental health. 

 Undertake a BAME audit of service within the mental health system. 

 Undertake a city-wide consultation to understand the local needs. 

 Close monitoring of demand for mental health services in the city. 

 Further our understanding of the impact of COVID-19 on the risk and protective 

factors for mental health. 

 

Working together 

 Collaborative work across organisational boundaries and sectors should continue 

and be strengthened to embed good mental health promotion and mental ill health 

prevention within the local authority, NHS, public, private and voluntary and social 

sector organisations.  

 Explore how collaboration between mental health partners in the city at all levels 

(mental health teams, primary care and VCSEs) can be strengthened. 

 Improved community engagement. 

 

Taking action for prevention and promotion, including reducing health 

inequalities 

 Promotion of population level interventions, such as 5 ways to wellbeing, workplace 

wellbeing, and community empowerment. 

 Strengthening of services relating to the wider determinants of health including, 

financial, debt, housing, food banks and unemployment services. 

 Continuing to value, support and develop our outdoor green and blue spaces and 

improve access for all. 

 Improving mental health services by improving access, provision of blended face to 

face and digital services, improving collaboration between services including during 

user transitions between services, promotion of the First Response Unit, addressing 

loneliness, using trauma informed practice, promoting staff wellbeing. 

 

Defining success and measuring outcomes 

 System partners should agree set of strategic aims for better mental health that are 

translated into actions and integrated into operational plans. 

 A set of key mental health indicators and outcomes as well as measures for the risk 

and protective factors for mental health should be measured and monitored. 

Page 17



 

Page 14 of 14 
 

OFFICIAL 

 Build evaluation into mental health interventions to improve knowledge of what 

works locally. 

 

Leadership and direction 

 Plymouth City Council’s public health team should continue to provide systems 

leadership for public mental health and continue to advocate for a prevention and 

promotion approach in the existing fora and multi-agency groups in the city; 

including in the:  

o Plymouth Mental Health Programme Board 

o Plymouth Suicide Prevention Strategic Partnership Group 

o Plymouth Emotional Health and Wellbeing of Children and Young People 

Group 

o Plymouth Mental Health Network 

 Senior leaders across the system should continue understand the value of good 

mental health as an asset to society, consider mental health in all policy decisions and 

make sure that a wide range of organisations address public mental health and are 

held to account for jointly agreed actions.  

Page 18



 

Page 1 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

COVID-19 ADULT MENTAL HEALTH NEEDS 

ASSESSMENT FOR PLYMOUTH 

2021 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 19 Agenda Item 7



 

Page 2 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

CONTENTS 

 

1.  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY ............................................................................................................. 3 

2.  INTRODUCTION ........................................................................................................................ 5 

2.1  COVID-19 AND MENTAL HEATLH AND WELLBEING .................................................. 5 

2.2  AIM ................................................................................................................................................... 5 

2.3  OBJECTIVES ................................................................................................................................... 5 

2.4  SCOPE AND LIMITATIONS...................................................................................................... 5 

2.5  METHODS ...................................................................................................................................... 6 

3.  PLYMOUTH PROFILE ................................................................................................................. 7 

4.  MENTAL HEALTH AND WELLBEING .................................................................................. 9 

5.  MENTAL HEALTH AND WELLBEING PRE-COVID ........................................................ 11 

5.1 MENTAL HEALTH NEED AND OUTCOMES ................................................................... 11 

5.2  MENTAL HEATLH SERVICES ................................................................................................. 13 

6.  MENTAL HEALTH AND WELLBEING DURING COVID-19 ........................................ 15 

6.1 CURRENT NATIONAL EVIDENCE ...................................................................................... 15 

6.2  NATIONAL CHANGES IN DEMAND FOR MENTAL HEATLH SERVICES ............... 21 

6.3 FUTURE MENTAL HEALTH NEED ....................................................................................... 23 

6.4 DISCUSSIONS WITH MENTAL HEALTH PROVIDERS ................................................... 33 

7.  SUMMARY OF KEY FINDINGS .............................................................................................. 39 

8.  CONCLUSIONS FROM EVIDENCE AND INTELLIGENCE ........................................... 42 

9.  GAPS .............................................................................................................................................. 45 

10.  RECOMMENDATIONS ............................................................................................................ 46 

References ................................................................................................................................................. 54 

APPENDIX 1 ............................................................................................................................................ 58 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 20



 

Page 3 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

1.  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

Good mental health is a state of wellbeing in which an individual realises their own abilities, 

can cope with the normal stresses of life, can work productively and make a contribution to 

their community. The COVID-19 pandemic and the control measures to reduce 

transmission are having profound health, economic and social consequences, which will 

impact on our mental health and wellbeing now and into the future.  

The population of Plymouth in 2017 was 263,070. Deprivation levels in Plymouth are higher 

than average and there are wide variations across the city. 

Livewell South West are commissioned by NHS Devon Clinical Commissioning Group to 

deliver all specialist mental health services within Plymouth, including inpatient psychiatric 

units and Community Mental Health Teams. Plymouth City Council commission mental 

health services, which support people with lower levels of need. There are also community 

sector and private organisations that are part of the Plymouth Mental Health Network. 

 

Mental health and wellbeing pre-COVID 

The prevalence of common mental disorders in Plymouth was 18.2%, which was significantly 

worse than the average in England. In Plymouth the proportion of adults with a low life 

satisfaction score was 4.0%, with a low worthwhile score was 3.8%, with a low happiness 

score was 7.7% and with a high anxiety score was 22.2%. These measures of self-reported 
wellbeing were in line with national rates. Emergency hospital admissions for deliberate self-

harm was significantly higher than in England but the local suicide rate was similar to the 

national average. In Plymouth, people with serious mental illnesses are 2.7 times more likely 

to die before the age of 75 than the rest of the population. This is significantly better than 

the England average, but shows the adverse health outcomes experienced by this group. 

 

Mental health and wellbeing during COVID-19 

Nationally, population level mental health and wellbeing worsened at the start of the 

pandemic. This was followed by a recovery in the summer of 2020, but not to pre-pandemic 

baselines. More recent evidence suggests a further decline in population mental health in the 

winter of 2020/21. There is no evidence of changes in rates of self-harm or suicide since the 

start of the pandemic. The total number of GP diagnoses of depression decreased in the 

pandemic but GP diagnoses of depression as a proportion of all GP diagnoses has increased. 

The mental health and wellbeing of certain groups have been disproportionately affected by 

the pandemic. These groups include: young adults, females, certain ethnic minorities, adults 

living with children, adults with pre-existing mental and physical health conditions, adults 

who were recommended to shield, older adults with multiple co-morbidities, adults who are 

socially isolated, adults with low household income or low relative socio-economic position, 

adults who experienced a loss of income, adults with financial worries, carers and frontline 

health and care staff.  

 

Future mental health need 

It is too early to see the full extent of the pandemic on mental health. When applied to 

Plymouth, a national model forecasts that over 43,000 adults in Plymouth will have a new 

Page 21



 

Page 4 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

need for mental health services due to the pandemic. Almost two thirds of this this increase 

need will be in those who already have mental health conditions.   

The pandemic is likely to adversely affect the risk and protective factors for mental health. 

Risk factors include deprivation and inequality, unemployment and poor working conditions, 

poverty and financial insecurity, poor housing and homelessness, crime and violence and 

alcohol consumption. Protective factors include community wellbeing and social capital, 

physical activity and use of outdoor space.  

 

Perspectives of mental health providers in Plymouth 

Discussion with a range of providers in Plymouth found there was a rapid move to digital 

provision in the pandemic and some were often managing a higher level of need remotely 

than they felt equipped to. In some cases, demand seemed to increase, whereas it had 

reduced in others. Most providers felt able to meet the demand, but there were signs of 

increasing challenges, including staff wellbeing and retention, engaging meaningfully with 

clients, transitions between services, uncertainty about the future and meeting increasing 
needs and demand. Providers’ thoughts on service and system improvements have informed 

the recommendations. 

 

Conclusions 

The pandemic has negatively impacted mental health nationally and locally. Certain groups 

have been more affected, many of which were at higher risk before the pandemic. 

Consequently, the pandemic may worsen health inequalities. Local intelligence suggests that 

there has not been a sudden substantial increase in demand for services. However, mental 

health is complex and multi-factorial. Individuals have different challenges and resources, and 

these have been affected in different ways. Therefore, a predicted increase in mental health 

needs will more likely occur gradually, and in time become difficult to manage in the system. 

 

Recommendations 

The overriding recommendation of this health needs assessment is that key 

organisations within the Health and Care system in Plymouth should sign and 

work together to meet the commitments of the Public Health England 

Prevention Concordat for Better Mental Health. 

This preventative, or public mental health approach attempts to build the resources and 

resilience of individuals and communities so that they can face the challenges in their lives in 

order to prevent the onset, development and escalation of mental health problems. It will 

strengthen the protective factors for good mental health and reduce the risk factors at an 

individual and community level. Prevention activities are cost-effective and will impact 

positively on the NHS and social care system. More targeted interventions will help reduce 

mental health inequalities and improvement to mental health services will improve the lives 

of those who have developed mental health issues.  

The individual recommendations are framed around the domains of the PHE Prevention 

Concordat for Better Mental Health, which are understanding local needs and assets, 

working together, taking action for prevention and promotion including reducing health 

inequalities, defining success and measuring outcomes, and leadership and direction. 

Page 22



 

Page 5 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

2.  INTRODUCTION 

 

2.1  COVID-19 AND MENTAL HEATLH AND WELLBEING 

 

The COVID-19 pandemic and the control measures to reduce transmission have impacted 

on almost all aspects of our lives. These measures have been in place in some form for over 

a year in the United Kingdom (UK). The pandemic and the control measures have profound 

health, economic and social consequences, all of which will impact on our mental health and 

wellbeing now and into the future. Moreover, these impacts are experienced differently by 

different groups. There is a risk that the pandemic may increase and entrench mental health 

inequalities that existed and were widening before the pandemic. It is crucial that we 

increase our knowledge of the broad impacts of the pandemic on mental health and 

wellbeing and the population groups that are more greatly affected. This will enable the 

mental health needs of our population and the hardest hit groups to be recognised and 

monitored so that appropriate support can be provided to mitigate the impact.  

 

2.2  AIM 

 

To bring together what is known nationally and locally about the impact of the COVID-19 

pandemic on mental health and wellbeing needs in adults; and to make recommendations to 

the local system to improve the mental health of the population.   

 

2.3  OBJECTIVES 

 

1. To outline the baseline mental health and wellbeing profile of Plymouth adults prior 

to COVID-19 pandemic. 

2. To review the emerging evidence to describe the impact of COVID-19 on mental 

health and identify groups that are more greatly affected.  

3. To assess how the pandemic may affect future mental health needs. 

4. To gather current intelligence, data and changes to service provision from mental 

health service providers across the local system. 

5. To identify current and potential future gaps in service provision in Plymouth. 

6. To provide evidence-based recommendations to promote wellbeing and prevent 

mental illness during COVID-19 and prepare the system to cope with changes in 

mental health need as a result of COVID-19. 

 

2.4  SCOPE AND LIMITATIONS 

 

The scope of this needs assessment is limited because of time and resource constraints 

during the pandemic. Therefore, this needs assessment will specifically address the mental 

health needs of adults in Plymouth in relation to the COVID-19 pandemic.  Dementia is not 

included in this.  

Page 23



 

Page 6 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

The evidence presented has been brought together from what was available between 

November 2020 and May 2021. New evidence will emerge, and the situation of the 

pandemic will change after this time period, which then may supersede some of the findings 

in this report. 

Furthermore, due to the rapid nature of the work and the regular emergence of new 

evidence this needs assessment cannot be exhaustive. There will inevitably be some gaps, 

which should not be taken as deliberate omissions.   

 

2.5  METHODS 

 

 The baseline mental health and wellbeing profile of Plymouth adults prior to COVID-

19 pandemic was outlined by reviewing data from the previous mental health needs 

assessment together with the information from Public Health England’s (PHE) mental 

health and wellbeing joint strategic needs assessment (JSNA) [1]. 

 The PHE COVID-19 mental health surveillance report was used as the main source 

of evidence for the impacts of COVID-19 on mental health and the groups that are 

more greatly affected [2]. 

 The potential future mental health need as a result of the pandemic was assessed 

using nationally available modelling data. In addition, evidence relating to the impact 

of the pandemic on the wider determinants of mental health (as outlined in the PHE 

mental health JSNA) was reviewed. 

 An open discussion with ten mangers of mental health and related services was held 

to gather intelligence on the impacts of the pandemic on providers and their 

services. These ten services were chosen to provide a range of perspectives from 

different services around the city.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 24



 

Page 7 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

3.  PLYMOUTH PROFILE 

 

Understanding the population of Plymouth is fundamental to providing mental health 

services and support in the city. 263,070 people are estimated to live in Plymouth according 

to the Office for National Statistics (ONS) mid-year estimate 2017. The population of 

Plymouth is expected to grow to around 274,300 by 2034, a projected increase of 4.3 per 

cent. The proportion of the population aged 65 and over is expected to increase from 17.9 

per cent in 2016 to 22.7 per cent in 2034. There is a projected 32.7 per cent increase in the 

number of people aged 65 or over between 2016 and 2034 in Plymouth [3].  

A growing and overall ageing population presents a number of challenges, which include 

additional demands on the provision of services. 

Plymouth is divided into 39 neighbourhoods, which are grouped to form 20 electoral wards. 

There is a longstanding awareness of the deprivation that exists in Plymouth. Inequalities 

occur both geographically across the city, and within and across communities.  

Figure 1 shows levels of deprivation in Plymouth using national quintiles (fifths) of the Index 

of Multiple Deprivation 2015 (IMD 2015) shown by lower super output area (LSOA).  

 

 

This figure shows that many LSOAs in Plymouth are in the most deprived quintile nationally 

and that there is a greater level of deprivation in Plymouth compared to the England 

average. Furthermore, the map highlights the wide variation across the city.  

Figure 1: (A) Map of Plymouth showing 2017 electoral wards (bold lines) and lower super output 

areas by deprivation.  

(B) Graph showing proportion of Plymouth residents living in the five deprivation quintiles, compared 

to England.  

Darker green areas indicate higher areas of deprivation. 

Lines represent electoral wards (2017). Quintiles shown for 2011 based lower super output areas 

(LSOAs). Contains OS data © Crown Copyright and database rights 2018. Contains public sector 

information licensed under the Open Government Licence v3.0 

Source: PHE Plymouth Health Profile 2018 

A B 

Page 25



 

Page 8 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

Further information on the population, deprivation and demographics of Plymouth can be 

found in the Plymouth Report 2019: 

https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/publichealth/factsandfiguresjointstrategicneedsassessment/plym

outhreport 

Area profiles for each neighbourhood and ward are found on the Plymouth JSNA website: 

https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/publichealth/factsandfiguresjointstrategicneedsassessment 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 26

https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/publichealth/factsandfiguresjointstrategicneedsassessment/plymouthreport
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/publichealth/factsandfiguresjointstrategicneedsassessment/plymouthreport
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/publichealth/factsandfiguresjointstrategicneedsassessment


 

Page 9 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

4.  MENTAL HEALTH AND WELLBEING 

 

Good mental health is more than just the absence of mental disorders or disabilities but is 

an integral and essential component of good health. 

Mental health is a state of wellbeing in which an individual realises their own abilities, can cope 

with the normal stresses of life, can work productively and is able to make a contribution to 

their community.  

Wellbeing is a difficult concept to describe and define and may mean different things to 

different people. A useful definition of wellbeing is the balance point between an individual’s 

and community’s resource pool and challenges faced [4]. Stable wellbeing is when individuals 

or communities have the psychological, social and physical resources they need to meet 

particular psychological, social and/or physical challenges. When there are more challenges 

than resources, the balance is lost and their wellbeing is impaired, and vice-versa.  

Mental health and wellbeing are fundamental to our collective and individual ability as human 

to think, portray emotion, interact with each other, earn a living and enjoy life.  

Good mental health and wellbeing is strongly influenced by the conditions in which people 

are born, grow, live, work and age. Promoting mental wellbeing and supporting mental ill 

health is essential not only for individuals and their families, but to society as a whole. In the 

UK: 

 One in four people will experience mental illness in their lifetime. 

 One in six people experience mental illness at any one time. 

 75% of mental health conditions in adult life (excluding dementia) start by the age of 

24. 

 Mental ill health is estimated to cost the UK economy £105 billion a year in health 

care and loss of productivity costs [5]. 

 

Within the population there are also significant avoidable inequalities in mental health 

problems that exist between groups. The Public Health England JSNA characterises these by 

personal characteristics, environmental factors experienced and groups across the life 

course [1]: 

Personal characteristics:  

 Black and ethnic minority groups 

 People living with physical disabilities 

 People living with learning difficulties 

 People with alcohol and/or drug dependence 

 Prison population, offenders and victims of crime 

 LGBT (lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender) people 

 Carers 

 People with sensory impairment 

 Homeless people 

Page 27



 

Page 10 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

 Refugees, asylum seekers and stateless person 

Environmental factors experienced: 

 Deprivation and inequality 

 Poverty and financial insecurity 

 Poor housing and homelessness 

 Unemployment and poor working conditions 

 Exposure to crime, safety and violence 

 Poor community wellbeing and social capital 

 

Groups across the life course:  

 Women who are pregnant or have a child aged under 12 months 

 Children living at socio-economic disadvantage 

 Children with parents who have mental health or substance misuse problems 

 Children who are looked after 

 Adults with a history of violence or abuse 

 People with poor physical health 

 Older people living in care homes 

 Isolated older people 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 28



 

Page 11 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

5.  MENTAL HEALTH AND WELLBEING PRE-COVID 

 5.1 MENTAL HEALTH NEED AND OUTCOMES 

 

The estimated prevalence of common mental disorders in Plymouth in 2017 was 18.2 per 

cent, which is significantly worse than the England average of 16.9 per cent.  

The annual population survey is a national survey which asks about self-reported wellbeing. 

Comparing Plymouth to the national average between April 2019 and March 2020 [1]:  

 4.0% of people in Plymouth reported a low satisfaction score, which statistically 

similar to the England average of 4.7%. 

 3.8% of people in Plymouth reported a low worthwhile score, which is the same as 

the rate in England. 

 7.7% of Plymouth residents reported a low happiness score, which is statistically 

similar to this figure in England (8.7%).  

 22.2% of Plymouth residents had a high anxiety score. This was similar to the 

England average of 21.9%.  

 

The directly standardised rate of emergency hospital admissions for intentional self-harm in 

Plymouth in 2019/20 (financial year) were 244.0 per 100,000, which is significantly above the 

England average of 192.6 per 100,000. 

The directly standardised suicide rate in Plymouth between 2017 and 2019 was 11.7 per 

100,000, which is statistically similar to the England rate of 10.1. The suicide rate in males 

and females in Plymouth over this time period was also similar to the England average.   

Individuals with serious mental illness have a higher rate of physical health conditions and 

poorer health outcomes. In the UK, people living with a serious mental health condition die 

12-13 years younger than other people. In England, people living with a serious mental 

health condition are about 3.5 times as likely to die before the age of 75 than adults without 

serious mental illness. In Plymouth, this excess risk of premature mortality under the age of 

75 is about 2.7 [1]. This is significantly better than in England overall, but still highlights the 

inequalities experienced by those with poor mental health.  

 

These baseline (pre-pandemic) mental health statistics and outcomes in Plymouth are 

summarised in Table 1:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 29



 

Page 12 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

Table 1: Summary of baseline mental health indicators in Plymouth prior to the COVID-19 pandemic 

Indicator Plymouth Comparison to England 

Prevalence of common mental 

disorders (2017) 
18.2 % Significantly worse 

Low life satisfaction score 

(2019/20) 
4.0% Statistically similar 

Low worthwhile score (2019/20) 3.8% Statistically similar 

Low happiness score (2019/20) 7.7% Statistically similar 

High anxiety score (2019/20) 22.2% Statistically similar 

Emergency hospital admissions for 

intentional self-harm (2019/20) 
244.0 per 100,000 Significantly worse 

Suicide rate (2017-2019) 11.7 per 100,000 Statistically similar 

Excess under 75 mortality rate in 

adults with serious mental illness 

(2015-2017) 

269.9% Significantly better 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 30



 

Page 13 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

5.2  MENTAL HEATLH SERVICES 

 

There are a wide range of mental health services in Plymouth from acute care for mental 

health crises through to community and mental health promotion services. Many of these 

are commissioned by the NHS and the local authority. There is also a wide array of non-

commissioned services in the private and voluntary and community sector.  

NHS commissioned services: 

Plymouth is part of the NHS Devon Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG). Livewell South 

West are commissioned to provide health and social care services in Plymouth and deliver 

all specialist mental health services within Plymouth, including: 

 An adult inpatient unit (Glenbourne). 

 Places of Safety for Adults and Children/Young people in Plymouth.  

 A home treatment team that aim to keep people who are acutely mentally unwell 

out of hospital and living in the community. Access is 24 hours a day and 7 days a 

week. This service also manages admissions the inpatient Glenbourne Unit.  

 Psychiatric Liaison Service within Derriford Hospital. This is nurse led with 

consultant support.  

 Plym Bridge House, a tier 4 tertiary unit that supports 12 to 18 year olds with 

serious mental ill-health. The Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS) 

is also run by Livewell SouthWest.   

 Community Mental Health Teams. 

 A new First Response Unit, which was set up in May 2020. This service is staffed by 

mental health professionals and provides advice, support and signposting to over 18s 

in Plymouth experiencing a mental health crisis. This service operates 24 hours a day 

and seven days a week.   

 

Local authority commissioned services 

Plymouth City Council commission a number of mental health services including: 

 Colebrook support services, which support people to live independently in the 

community. 

 Colebrook Headspace, an out-of-hours service for people who feel that they are 

approaching a mental health crisis. 

 Rethink Plymouth: a mental health charity. 

 Devon Mind, a mental health charity. 

 Wolseley Trust, a business and Community Economic Development Trust that 

provides a social prescribing service.  

 Elder Tree Befriending for socially isolated and vulnerable older people 

 Advice Plymouth, which provides advice and information relating to personal 

management and finances.  

 

 

Page 31



 

Page 14 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

Non-commissioned services 

There is a vibrant network of voluntary and community sector and private organisations 

that provide support for mental health and wellbeing in Plymouth.  

The Plymouth Mental Health Network (www.plymouthmhn.org) brings this community 

together by supporting providers with a local network. This allows providers at all levels to 

share information and ideas, and work collaboratively to support people in Plymouth with 

their mental health.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 32

http://www.plymouthmhn.org/


 

Page 15 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

6.  MENTAL HEALTH AND WELLBEING DURING COVID-19 

 

6.1 CURRENT NATIONAL EVIDENCE 

 

PHE COVID-19 mental health and wellbeing surveillance (last reviewed 5 May 2021, website 

last updated 8 April 2021 to include data up to 15 February 2021) [2] presents close to real 

time intelligence on the mental health and wellbeing of the population of England during the 

COVID-19 pandemic COVID-19: mental health and wellbeing surveillance report - GOV.UK 

(www.gov.uk).There are two main categories of information included in this report: 

 Weekly data from the UCL COVID-19 Social Study and ONS Coronavirus and the 

Social Impact on Great Britain.  

 Academic research.  

The strengths of this data are that it is updated regularly and aims to provide close to real 

time evidence. The report also collects data from a range of sources and methods (such as 

validated surveys and self-reported data) and triangulates this to give higher confidence in 

the conclusions. However, the evidence is new research, some of which is ongoing and 

unpublished and so may not have been peer reviewed. With the published research there is 

a delay between data collection and publication because of the time needed to clean and 

analyse it. The weekly data is more immediate, however, it is difficult to draw conclusions 

because the data has not been analysed to control for confounding factors or identify 

potential biases. The time frame from the start of the pandemic to having available published 

research is short meaning that it is likely that new evidence will emerge in future relating to 

the mental health impacts of COVID-19. It is therefore important to regularly review the 

evidence. 

 

Mental distress:  

The average mental distress (measured using a standard validated questionnaire – GHQ-12) 

was 8% higher in April 2020, than it was between 2017 and 2019 [2].  

The proportion of adults who reported clinically significant psychological distress changed 

from: 

 20.7% in 2019 

 29.5% in April 2020 

 21.4% in July 2020 

 21.5% in September 2020 

 

Anxiety: 

Two sources of weekly data using different samples and measurement (UCL COVID-19 

Social Study and ONS Coronavirus and the Social Impacts on Great Britain (up to 22 

February 2021) show pattern of higher anxiety than baseline at the start of the pandemic. 

This gradually reduced and levelled off in the summer of 2020 at above pre-pandemic levels. 

Average levels of anxiety then increased through the autumn of 2020 and winter of 2020/21 

but not up to the high levels seen during the first lockdown [2], [6], [7].  

Page 33

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-mental-health-and-wellbeing-surveillance-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-mental-health-and-wellbeing-surveillance-report


 

Page 16 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

This data is supported by early academic literature, indicating that anxiety levels increased at 

the start of the first lockdown but decreased thereafter [2]. Trends seen in the weekly data 

after September 2020 are not yet covered in the academic literature.  

Low income, loss of income, pre-existing health condition, young age, living with children, 

high perceived risk of infection and being female were all associated with anxiety [8], [9]. 

 

Depression: 

The UCL COVID-19 weekly data shows levels of depression were high at the start of the 

first lockdown, before reducing and levelling off above best available pre-pandemic baseline 

[6]. There is also some suggestion of increasing depression since August 2020 but not to 

levels seen in April 2020.  

The academic literature is mixed and only currently covers up to September 2020. Some 

studies have found an increase in average depressive symptoms since the pandemic started, 

whereas others have found no difference. During the first national lockdown women, 

younger adults, people with lower educational attainment, people from lower-income 
households, people with pre-existing mental health conditions, caregivers (formal and 

informal), people who lost formal help, and people living alone reported higher depressive 

symptoms than the overall population. Groups that reported higher levels of depression in 

the pandemic, correlate to risk groups from before the pandemic. These groups have also 

shown faster recover during the pandemic than lower risk groups [2].   

 

Life satisfaction: 

Two sources of weekly data using different samples and measurement (UCL COVID-19 

Social Study and ONS Coronavirus and the Social Impacts on Great Britain) show life 

satisfaction at the start of the pandemic was significantly lower than baseline. This improved 

between April and September 2020, before decreasing almost to levels seen at the start of 

pandemic between October 2020 and February 2021. There are early indications of 

improvements after this. [6], [7]. 

Increases in rates of low life satisfaction occurred in all age groups but it was more common 

in younger adults than older adults. Older adults who were shielding were found to have a 

lower life satisfaction during the pandemic [2]. 

 

Loneliness: 

Two sources of weekly data using different samples and measurement (UCL COVID-19 

Social Study and ONS Coronavirus and the Social Impacts on Great Britain) are not 

consistent in their figures for population loneliness. UCL data shows there has been almost 

no changes in loneliness rates between April 2020 and February 2021 [6]. However, ONS 

data indicates that loneliness levels were around pre-pandemic rates between April 2020 

and October 2020 but have increased thereafter. [7]. 

Academic literature indicates that overall self-reported levels of loneliness were relatively 

stable. However, those who were most lonely before the pandemic reported increases in 

loneliness and those who were least lonely reported decreases. Young adults, women, 

people with lower education, people with low income, people who are economically 

inactive, people with an existing mental health condition, people living alone, and urban 

Page 34



 

Page 17 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

residents were more likely to report being lonely during the pandemic. These groups are 

almost identical to those at increased risk pre-lockdown, but their risk increased in the 

pandemic. Older people with multiple health conditions, or who were shielding were also 

shown to be particularly affected by loneliness [2]. 

 

Thoughts of death/self-harm, self-reported self-harm and suicide: 

Population level rates of self-harm have not increased during the pandemic [10]. However, 

there is some evidence that a significant proportion of UK adults may be at risk for self-arm 

thoughts and behaviours [11]. The largest risk factors for self-harm thoughts and behaviours 

were experiencing abuse and financial worries.  

Another study found that frequency of self-harm and thoughts of suicide/self-harm was 

higher among women, BAME groups and people experiencing socioeconomic disadvantage, 

unemployment, disability, chronic physical illnesses, mental disorders and those who had had 

a COVID-19 diagnosis [12].  

An ongoing meta-analysis with no geographical limits found 28 studies (half of which were 
research letters of pre-prints) that met their inclusion criteria. It found that so far no studies 

have found changes in suicide, self-harm, or attempted suicide and suicidal thoughts 

associated with the pandemic [13]. Similarly, a study in England found between April and 

October 2020 found no change in suicide rates compared to 2019 [14]. 

However, previous epidemics, such as SARS in 2003 were associated with a rise in deaths by 

suicide [15]. There was also an increase in suicides associated with the 2008 financial crisis 

in Europe and North America [16]. It may therefore be possible that it is too early to see 

any changes in suicides as a result of pandemic currently.  

 

 

GROUPS DISPROPORTIONATELY AFFECTED 

Overall, the national picture is of higher levels of psychological distress than prior to the 

pandemic. There has been some recovery since the start of lockdown, but the available 

evidence suggests this is not generally to pre-pandemic levels. However, disproportionate 

changes in the mental wellbeing of certain groups may not be evident from looking at data 

for the whole population. The evidence is still emerging, and the picture may change as time 

goes on. Box 1 summarises the groups that current evidence suggests have been at higher 

risk of mental ill health since the start of the pandemic.  

Page 35



 

Page 18 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

Many of these are groups that before the pandemic were at higher risk of mental health 

problems, demonstrating the potential of the pandemic to increase mental health 

inequalities.  

 

Young adults and women  

Broadly, young adults (between 18 and 34, depending on study) and women have been more 

likely to report worse mental health, wellbeing, life satisfaction and loneliness during 

pandemic than adults and older men, respectively. This is a similar pattern to before the 

pandemic, but differences may have increased. Women and young adults seemed to 

experience a faster recovery between April and September, which has reduced some of the 

differences seen earlier in the pandemic [2]. 

Women were more likely to have made larger adjustments to manage demands of work, 

home and childcare during lockdown than men and these adjustments are associated with 

increased distress. The disproportionate impact of the pandemic on employment and 

financial security may also go some way to explain the increased risk of poor mental health 

in these groups [2]. 

 

Adults living with children 

There is evidence that adults living with children have been more likely to report worse 

mental health than adults living without children since the pandemic, with lone mothers 

being particularly vulnerable [2]. 

 

Ethnicity 

The relationship between mental health wellbeing and ethnicity during the pandemic is 

unclear due to limited evidence, small sample sizes and confounding factors, such as income 

and employment. Data suggests that men and women from BAME groups reported a similar 

Box 1: Groups at risk of mental ill health since the start of the COVID-19 pandemic. 

 

 Young adults 

 Females 

 Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) men 

 Adults living with children, in particular lone mothers 

 Adults with pre-existing mental health conditions 

 Adults with pre-existing physical health conditions 

 Older adults who were recommended to shield 

 Older adults with multi-comorbidities 

 Adults who are socially isolated 

 Adults with low household income or relative socio-economic position 

 Adults who experienced loss of income, especially the self-employed 

 Adults with financial worries 

 Carers (formal and informal) 

 Frontline health and care staff 

Page 36



 

Page 19 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

deterioration in mental health during the pandemic to each other. For men this change was 

larger than in White British men, but the reduction in mental health for women from BAME 

groups was similar to that of White British Women [2]. 

 

People with pre-existing mental health problems 

Those with pre-existing mental health problems have reported higher levels of anxiety, 

depression and loneliness than adults without pre-existing mental health conditions, 

however, the evidence does not suggest that the gap has changed between these groups 

since the start of the pandemic [2]. There is also evidence that people with a diagnosed 

psychiatric disorder have been more likely to be infected, hospitalised and die from COVID-

19 than those without a psychiatric disorder [17]. 

 

Adults with pre-existing physical health conditions 

Some studies have found that adults with long-term physical health conditions have reported 

worse depressive symptoms than adults without long-term physical health conditions. 
Specific conditions have also been identified as risk factors for poorer mental health, 

including asthma and some cancers. Older adults with multi-morbidities reported higher 

levels of depression and loneliness than older adults without multi-morbidities. A qualitative 

study found that mental distress may be due to fear and anxiety around the consequences of 

catching COVID-19, the impact of shielding/isolation, the experience of access to healthcare 

and uncertainty about the future [2]. 

 

Older adults who were recommended to shield or with multi-morbidities 

This group were more likely to report higher levels of depression, anxiety and loneliness in 

June and July 2020 than people of a similar age but not recommended to shield. Rates were 

particularly high in those who strictly complied with shielding guidance [2].  

 

Adults who are socially isolated 

More frequent face-to-face or phone/video contact, as well as higher perceived social 

support, were associated with lower levels of depressive symptoms [2].  

 

Adults with low household income or relative socioeconomic position 

Adults with low household income or relative socioeconomic position was associated with 

increased symptoms of anxiety, depression and loneliness [8] [18] [19] [20]. Adverse 

experiences such as COVID-19 illness, financial difficulties or difficulty accessing food or 

medicine, were having a larger impact on mental health and wellbeing in adults in a lower 

socioeconomic position [21]. 

 

Adults who experienced loss of income and financial worries 

Adults not in employment were more likely to report worse and increasing loneliness than 

those in work [20] [21]. Adults who experienced loss of income early in lockdown reported 

higher levels of anxiety [8] and mental distress [22]. Having some paid work or continued 

Page 37



 

Page 20 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

connection to a job during the pandemic is associated with better mental health than not 

having any work [23]. 

 

Health and care workers 

Data from previous pandemics indicate that the mental health of health and social care 

workers is negatively impacted [24]. Evidence so far in this pandemic is mixed. The PHE 

surveillance report comments on a number of studies which show worse mental health in 

key workers, however, some studies show no difference to the general population or even 

better mental health. Staff working in intensive care units were found to have high rates of 

probable Post Traumatic Stress Disorder. However, many respondents reported good 

wellbeing.  

The picture is similarly mixed for informal carers. Between April and September 2020, they 

experienced higher rates of depressive and anxiety symptoms than non-carers, but they also 

had a higher sense of life being worthwhile.  

 

The evidence to date does not cover the entirely of the pandemic. Academic research 

provides evidence up to the autumn of 2020 and the less robust weekly data up to February 

2021. Since these dates there have been lockdowns beginning in November 2020 and 

January 2021 following a significant rise in COVID-19 cases. Since March there has been 

lower case rates and therefore easing of restrictions, according to the government roadmap 

(COVID-19 Response - Spring 2021 (Summary) - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)). These 

fluctuations in the case rates and national restrictions are likely to have affected mental 

health in both directions. Mental health in the lockdown may have worsened but improved 

again following the increased ability to socialise and work as the restrictions are eased. This 

would reflect the changes that were seen in the first national lockdown and easing of 

restrictions in the summer of 2020. Reports such as this will therefore struggle to keep up 

with the rapid changes in our society. This highlights the importance of referring to the 

most up to date evidence presented on the PHE COVID-19: mental health and wellbeing 

surveillance report COVID-19: mental health and wellbeing surveillance report - GOV.UK 

(www.gov.uk). 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 38

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-response-spring-2021/covid-19-response-spring-2021-summary
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-mental-health-and-wellbeing-surveillance-report
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-mental-health-and-wellbeing-surveillance-report


 

Page 21 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

6.2  NATIONAL CHANGES IN DEMAND FOR MENTAL HEATLH 

SERVICES  

 

 

The PHE COVID-19 mental health surveillance report provides national data on the use of 

telephone and online services that support mental health [2].  

 Anxiety UK, a charity for those affected by anxiety-based conditions, had a rapid rise 

in cases during the first lockdown, peaking in May and June 2020. This was followed 

by a decrease in the summer of 2020 and a steady rate of calls towards the end of 

2020, which was higher than in 2019. Calls at the start of 2021 looked to have 

increased again. 

 Mind, which provides advice and support to people experiencing a mental health 

problem, initially saw a decrease in demand at the start of the first lockdown. This 

was followed by a gradually increasing demand by calls, texts and emails up to 

October 2020, where demand has since steadied. Mind also reported that the length 

of calls after the start of the pandemic is generally longer when compared to pre-

COVID.  

 Togetherall is an online community for people who are stressed, anxious or feeling 

low. There was an increase in logins during the first lockdown in spring 2020. Logins 

then decreased to pre-pandemic levels over the summer of 2020, before rising again 

to first lockdown levels through the autumn of 2020 and winter of 2020/21. 

 Kooth PLC provides digital mental health care for young people, adults, students and 

businesses. Adult weekly logins rose and fell modestly with the first lockdown and 

easing the spring and summer of 2020. Logins then increased again from September 

2020 to February 2021 to levels higher than seen in the first lockdown (despite a 

significant dip over Christmas and New Year).  

 Rethink Mental Illness is a charity that provides numerous mental health services. 

Calls to its advice service have been stable throughout the pandemic, except for one 

week of high demand in August 2020.  

 Citizens Advice give independent advice on benefits, work, debt and money, 

consumer issues, family matters, housing, law and courts, immigration and health. In 

the pandemic, there was an initial drop in the numbers of people with a mental 

health condition being supported, but this has increased during the pandemic. The 

most common advice sought in this group was for debt, followed by benefits and 

universal credit, housing and employment. 

 

ONS data indicates that the rate of GP diagnosed depression in England between March and 

August 2020 fell by 24%. Given the population data indicating a potential higher rate of 

depression and depressive symptoms in the pandemic, this suggests that fewer people with 

depressive symptoms were seeking support from primary care. This is concerning because 

untreated depression is a risk factor for suicide, particularly in males [25]. Over this same 

period all diagnoses by GPs in England fell by 30%. Therefore, as a percentage of all GP 

diagnoses, depression diagnoses rose by 1.3% to 15.6% compared to 2019 levels [26]. 

This suggests that overall fewer people were seeing their GP for health (including mental 

health) problems, however, out of those who did, there was a higher rate of depression 

than in 2019. This increase in depression diagnoses as a proportion of all diagnoses was 

higher in people living in the more deprived areas.  
 

Page 39



 

Page 22 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

A survey of members of the Royal College of Psychiatry in September 2020 found that more 

members reported an increase in workload in emergency and urgent mental health care 

[27]. This survey was completed by 689 members working in the NHS in the UK, which was 

a response rate of 5.3%. Whilst there may be some bias in who responded to the survey, 

this does support the findings that mental health conditions have worsened in lockdown and 

that reduced presentation to primary care may indicate a picture of worsening population 

mental health where people are presenting to services later and in crisis.    

 

The PHE COVID-19 mental health surveillance report has found that different support 

strategies were more likely to be used by different population groups [2].  

 Women were more likely than men to undertake self-care activities or speak to 

family and friends about their mental health. 

 Older adults and adults with less education were more likely to take medication and 

less likely to speak to a mental health professional or use a helpline or online forum, 

than younger adults and adults with more education.  

 People from Black, Asian and minority ethnic groups were more likely to use an 

online forum or helpline, and less likely to take medication 

 Adults who live alone were more likely to speak to health professionals, undertake 

in self-care activities and talk to others about their mental health than adults who live 

with others.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 40



 

Page 23 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

6.3 FUTURE MENTAL HEALTH NEED 

 

Although there is some mixed evidence it is likely that mental health need has already 

changed as a result of COVID-19, especially for certain groups. It is also possible that 

changes in mental health need as a result of the pandemic will continue because of: 

 It may be too early to see some of the impacts of the pandemic on mental health. 

 The ongoing challenge of the pandemic may continue to affect mental health. 

 The pandemic may have environmental, cultural and socio-economic impacts, which 

in turn will continue to impact mental health. Examples include the possibility of 

recession, rise in unemployment and rise in deprivation.  

The extent to which these factors may influence mental health in the future is uncertain, 

however, it is important to consider the best available evidence and the impacts of the 

pandemic on the wider determinants of mental health to give an indication or prediction of 

potential future need.  

 

Centre for Mental Health model 
The Centre for Mental Health has developed a model for mental health need arising from 

COVID-19 with physicians, researchers and economists from NHS England and NHS Trusts 

[28]. The report acknowledges that there are many unknowns associated with this figure, 

for example the length of the pandemic and duration and severity of the social restrictions 

are unknown, and that there is limited previous experiences of pandemics to base the 

statistical models. However, it attempts to make a forecast based on the best available 

current research. The toolkit also allows local data to be inputted to provide local forecasts. 

The model forecasts that as a direct consequence of the pandemic, up to 8.5 million adults 

in England (almost 20% of that population) will need either new or additional mental health 

support. Table 2 below summarises the population groups highlighted in the model to be at 

risk of mental ill health and the forecasted impact on Plymouth. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 41



 

Page 24 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

Table 2: The Centre for Mental Health forecast for demand for new demand for mental health services 

applied to Plymouth 

Population 

group 
Description 

Forecasted 

new demand 

for services in 

Plymouth 

People without 

pre-existing 

mental health 

conditions 

It is forecasted that over 3 million people in 

England who have not previously experienced 

mental health issues prior to the pandemic will 

require services for moderate-severe depression 

or anxiety. 

15,360 

People with 

pre-existing 

mental health 

conditions 

5 million people who have existing mental health 

conditions are estimated to require additional 

support for moderate to severe anxiety or 

depression. This is approximately two-thirds of all 

individuals with mental health conditions. 

26,767 

Healthcare 

workers 

200,000 NHS workers in England are predicted to 

suffer from post-traumatic distress, high 

psychological distress and burnout. This is based on 

experiences with other outbreaks of severe acute 

respiratory syndrome. 

No specific predictions were made for other 

workers, such as carers or key workers due to a 

lack of available research, however, it is likely that 

they will also be at risk of poor mental health. 

838 

People 

recovering 

from severe 

COVID-19 

Research suggest people with severe COVID-19 

admitted to intensive care units will have a higher 

rate of anxiety, depression and post-traumatic 

stress disorder. 

42 

Adult family 

members of 

those 

recovering 

from severe 

COVID-19 

This group are also at increased risk of adverse 

mental health conditions, including anxiety, 

depression and post-traumatic stress disorder. 

27 

Bereaved 

people 

36,000 people in England are estimated to require 

support for depression, anxiety and PTSD due to 

not being able to say goodbye to loved ones or be 

with them in their last moments. 

175 

People 

economically 

affected by 

COVID-19 

Around 30,000 people in England may require 

services for depression due to unemployment, 

however, this figure could rise as the full economic 

impact is revealed. 

238 

 

Page 42



 

Page 25 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

Overall, the model predicts that there will be 43,461 new people in Plymouth who will 

require mental health services. This is slightly lower than the total of the individual figures as 

a discount rate is applied to avoid double counting the people who may be included in more 

than one group. However, it is worth noting that these models use assumptions based on 

current research which is evolving constantly. In addition, there are no timeframes given for 

when people may require services and no information on the level of need that will be 

required. An updated model is due to be published in May 2021 taking into account more 

recent evidence, but this is not yet available for inclusion in this report.   

For a full explanation of the model and local data applied to the model, see Appendix 1. 

 

Risk and protective factors 

Our individual and community circumstances have a significant impact on our mental health. 

Some elements of our lives may increase the risk of developing a mental health condition, 

whereas other parts of may protect against such illness. The impact of the COVID-19 

pandemic on these protective and risk factors will be considered to understand how the 
pandemic may impact mental health now and in the future. However, it is important to 

acknowledge that the future is especially uncertain and ongoing monitoring of these 

determinants will be vital.  

 

Risk factors 

 

Deprivation and inequality 

It is well established that deprivation (a lack of money, resources and access to life 

opportunities) or being in a position of relative disadvantage (having significantly less 

resource than others) is a risk factor for poorer health including mental health [1]. Factors 

such as employment, income and relationships contribute to a ‘spiral of adversity’ and poor 

mental health outcomes [29]. The prevalence of psychotic disorders among the lowest fifth 

of household income is 9 times higher than in the highest and there is double the level of 

common mental health problems between these two same groups.  

As outlined in the introduction, Plymouth residents experience a higher level of deprivation 

than the national average. For example, 30% of Plymouth residents live in the most deprived 

quintile of neighbourhoods in England [1]. 

There is evidence that the impacts of the pandemic on mental health are unevenly 

distributed in the population. In general, those already experiencing relative disadvantage 

more greatly affected, which could result in greater health inequalities.   

 

Unemployment and poor working conditions 

Unemployment and poor working conditions are risk factors for poor mental health. 

Conversely, stable and rewarding employment is a protective factor for mental health and 

can be a vital element of recovery from mental health problems [1]. The workplace provides 

an opportunity to build resilience, develop social networks and social capital [30]. 

Conversely, unemployment and unstable employment are strongly linked to mental health 

problems [29], with people who are unemployed at 4 to 10 times more likely to report 

anxiety and depression and to complete suicide [31]. And impact is bidirectional. People 

Page 43



 

Page 26 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

with a common mental health condition are four to five times more likely to be permanently 

unable to work [32]. In addition, it is important to distinguish between ‘good work’, 

characterised by fair treatment, autonomy, security and reward, and ‘bad work’, where 

individuals feel unsupported, undervalued and demotivated. For example some flexible 

employment practices, such as zero-hours contracts, can be abused by managers and lead to 

financial insecurity, anxiety and stress [33]. 

In 2019, Plymouth had an unemployment rate of 4.5%, which is not statistically different 

from the England average of 3.9% [34].  

The pandemic continues to have a severe impact on employment and this can be shown by 

the number of individuals in Plymouth on Universal Credit over the past two years, in Figure 

2 [35]:  

 

Figure 2: Number of people on Universal Credit in Plymouth between March 2019 and February 2021. 

Source: Department of Work and Pensions benefit statistics. 

 

 

This is a stark rise in those claiming universal credit in Plymouth from 15,669 in February 

2020 to 27,299 in February 2021, an increase of almost 75%. National evidence suggests that 

the impact on employment is not felt equally across the society and has interacted with 

existing inequalities. The Institute for Fiscal Studies’ COVID-19 and Inequalities report in 

June 2020 highlighted that younger workers and those on low incomes are much more likely 

to have lost their job due to COVID-19 and are more likely to have experienced a 

reduction in earnings, than older and higher-income workers. They were also more likely to 

expect larger further cuts to their incomes. Furthermore, the self-employed and workers in 

less secure work arrangements (for example, zero hours contracts) were more likely to be 

negatively affected [36]. Mothers, and in particularly lone mothers were also more likely to 

work in sectors that have been shut down or in jobs where they are unable to work from 

home, exacerbating pre-existing difficulties at a time where childcare is likely to be 

interrupted also. Certain ethnic minorities (in particular Bangladeshi and Pakistani workers) 

0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

30000

M
ar

-1
9

A
p

r-
1

9

M
ay

-1
9

Ju
n

-1
9

Ju
l-

1
9

A
u

g-
1

9

Se
p

-1
9

O
ct

-1
9

N
o

v-
1

9

D
ec

-1
9

Ja
n

-2
0

Fe
b

-2
0

M
ar

-2
0

A
p

r-
2

0

M
ay

-2
0

Ju
n

-2
0

Ju
l-

2
0

A
u

g-
2

0

Se
p

-2
0

O
ct

-2
0

N
o

v-
2

0

D
ec

-2
0

Ja
n

-2
1

Fe
b

-2
1

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
p

eo
p

le

Month

Number of people on Universal Credit in Plymouth

Page 44



 

Page 27 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

were also more likely to be in shutdown industries. A conclusion of the report is that the 

ability to continue working through the lockdown period, and to work safely (i.e. from 

home) is distributed unevenly by gender, ethnicity, education and earnings, which were all 

key axes of inequality before the pandemic.  

 

Poverty and financial insecurity 

Low income and debt are risk factors for mental illness. Personal and financial security is a 

protective factor. Poverty can also be both a causal factor and a consequence of mental ill 

health across the life course [1].  

Unmanageable financial debt is associated with poorer mental health [37], [38]. A quarter of 

people experiencing common mental health conditions also have financial problems, which is 

three times more than the general population [39]. Half of all adults with a debt problem 

also have a common mental health and 86% of survey respondents said their financial 

situation had made their mental health problems worse [37]. 

In Plymouth in 2015, 16.3% of the population were living in an income-deprived household. 
Low income is defined as both those in and out of work who have low earnings. This was 

significantly worse than the England average of 14.6% [34]. 

During the period between July-September 2020 (when there was a re-opening of the 

economy) the Resolution Foundation estimate that 23% of working-age adults reported that 

their household income was lower than in February 2020 [40]. Looking at income and 

spending together the report found that over this time period 41% of adults saw their 

income and spending change by the same amount, spending fell relative to their income for 

21%, while 28% saw incomes fall more than their spending. Those from the lowest income 

quintile were overrepresented in this latter category compared to those in the highest 

income quintile. Furthermore half of those who entered the pandemic with the most 

meagre of savings have been forced to dip into them to cover everyday costs such as 

housing and food and 54% of adults in families from the lowest income quintile have 

borrowed more to cover these costs.  

These findings are supported by those of the debt charity StepChange where in September a 

survey estimated that 29% of adults in Great Britain had experienced at least one negative 

change in circumstance since the beginning of COVID. This included unemployment or 

redundancy, furlough, fall in hours worked, fall in income from self-employment, fall in 

income due to parental leave, fall in income due to self-isolation and fall in income for 

another reason [41]. Among those affected 70% reported a fall in household income 

suggesting that some people were insulated against the fall in income, but the majority were 

not. 14% of those affected reported a fall in income and an increase in expenditure and 

parents with dependent children were significantly overrepresented in this group.   

Locally calls to Advice Plymouth (Figure 3) appear to have reduced at the start of the 

pandemic, but have gradually increased since then, reaching a peak in November 2020. 

However, there may be many reasons for this rise, for example greater awareness of the 

service and so it will be important to monitor this data in the future, given the link between 

debt and mental health.  

 

Page 45



 

Page 28 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

Figure 3: Number of calls to Advice Plymouth for debt advice between April 2018 and December 2020 

 

 

 

Poor housing and homelessness 

Insecure, poor quality and overcrowded housing causes stress, anxiety and depression, and 
are a risk factor for mental health conditions [1]. Everybody who experiences homelessness 

will feel stress and anxiety and may report depression [42]. Compared to the general 

population, homeless people are twice as likely to have a common mental health condition, 

psychosis is up to 15 times more prevalent [43], and they are over nine times more likely to 

complete suicide [44]. In addition, people experiencing homelessness find it more difficult to 

access health services, including mental health care [45].  

Statutory homelessness rates in Plymouth in 2017/18 was 2.6 per 1,000 households, which 

was not significantly different to the England average of 2.4 per 1,000 households. In 

Plymouth in 2018/19 81% of adults in contact with secondary mental health services live in 

stable and appropriate accommodation. This is significantly better than the England average 

of 58% and this large difference was the case for the two years preceding 2018/19 as well 

[1]. 

Research by the National Housing Federation in June 2020 showed that 31% of adults in the 

UK had experienced mental or physical health problems due to the condition of their home 

or lack of space during the initial lockdown, with people reporting a lack of space at home 

during lockdown more likely to experience depression [46]. 

Early in the crisis, measures were taken nationally to house people who were experiencing 

rough sleeping. There is evidence from other areas that there was a very positive impact on 

the health of the people who were housed, including better mental health, positive impacts 

on drug dependency and improved access to addiction support [47]. However, there is a 

concern that the economic impact of COVID-19 may increase the numbers of people 

experiencing homelessness after government support finishes. 

0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

1400

1600

1800

2000

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
ca

lls

Month

Number of Calls to Advice Plymouth for Debt Advice

Page 46



 

Page 29 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

Crime and violence 

The relationship between crime and mental health problem is complex. People in contact 

with the criminal justice system have a higher prevalence of mental health needs compared 

to the general population [48]. These disorders are more severe and complex and are often 

combined with poor physical health and substance misuse [49]. People with mental health 

problems are three times more likely to be a victim of crime than the general population 

[50]. Being a victim of crime, or exposure to violent or unsafe environments, including being 

a victim of intimate partner violence or domestic abuse can also increase the risk of 

developing a mental health problem [51]. 

In Plymouth violent offences per 1,000 population in 2019/20 was 36.5, which is higher than 

the England average of 29.5.  Sexual offences per 100,000 population in the same year was 

also higher in Plymouth (3.7 per 100,000) than nationally (2.5 per 100,000) [1]. 

The Office for National Statistics found that police data showed an increase in domestic 

abuse-related offences during the COVID-19 pandemic, however, there has been a gradual 
increase over recent years prior to the pandemic as recording has improved. There has also 

been a gradual increase in demand for domestic abuse victim services during the pandemic, 

which the report suggests does not necessarily indicate an increase in the number of victims, 

but a potential increase in the severity of abuse and a lack of available support mechanisms 

[52]. 

 

 Alcohol consumption 

Alcohol and mental health problems are often co-existent. Alcohol use is a risk factor for 

mental health and experiencing mental health problems can increase the likelihood of 

developing an unhealthy relationship with alcohol [53]. 

In Plymouth in 2018/19 the directly standardised rate of hospital admissions for alcohol 

related admissions was 636 per 100,000 which is comparable to the England average of 664 

per 100,000 [34]. 

The relationship between the COVID-19 pandemic and alcohol consumption is difficult to 

assess. The shutdown of the hospitality industry for much of the pandemic has meant that 

fewer people consumed alcohol in pubs and bars.  However, in March 2020 during the first 

lockdown supermarket sales of alcohol increased by 67%, which is higher than the increase 

in overall sales of 43% [54]. According to a poll during the first lockdown most people said 

that they were drinking about the same amount as previously, but a significant proportion 

were drinking more or less than before lockdown [55]. Provisional data from ONS have 

shown that in England and Wales there were 7,423 deaths in 2020 from alcohol-specific 

causes. This is 19.6% higher than in 2019 and the highest annual total of this dataset (data 

collection started in 2001) [56]. Of particular concern will be those who were already 

struggling with alcohol dependence before lockdown and those who were on the brink of 

alcohol dependence and dependence was triggered by the stresses of the pandemic (for 

example, bereavement or financial insecurity). These groups may have had trouble to access 

services during the pandemic and will need support to address both their alcohol 

dependence and any underlying issues.  

 

 

Page 47



 

Page 30 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

Protective factors 

 

Community wellbeing and social capital 

The mental wellbeing of individuals is influenced by factors at a community level such as 

social networks, sense or local identify, levels of trust and reciprocity and civic engagement. 

These resources are known as social capital and are protective mental health factors. 

Community assets improve the health and quality of the community. They include physical 

assets such as public green space, play areas and community buildings, and social assets such 

as volunteer and charity groups, social networks and the knowledge and experiences of 

local residents. These assets have potential to protect and increase community wellbeing 

and thus strength resilience.  

Community wellbeing and social capital is difficult to measure in a single metric. The 

proportion of adult social care users who have as much social contact as they like gives 

some indication of the connectedness of some of the more vulnerable people in our society. 

In Plymouth the proportion of adult social care users who have as much social contact as 

they would like in 2019/20 was 41.4%, which is similar to the England average of 45.9% [1]. 

The impact of the coronavirus pandemic on communities and social capital are complex and 

difficult to measure. Whilst the control measures have reduced the ability of communities to 

physically come together and socialise, neighbours have been looking out for each other and 

providing informal support. For example, there are over 2000 groups listed on the mutual 

aid website in May 2021 [57]. ONS weekly research in April 2020 showed that 64% of 

adults said that local community members would support them if they needed help during 

the pandemic, over three quarters said that they thought people were doing more to help 

others since the pandemic and nearly two thirds of adults had checked in on neighbours 

who might need help at least one in the last seven days [58].                                                                                

 

 Physical activity and use of outdoor green and blue spaces 

Undertaking physical activity and spending time in green and blue spaces is well established 

as a protective factor for our mental health and our health in general [59]. 

In Plymouth in 2019/20 the percentage of physically active adults (defined as adults doing at 

least 150 minutes of moderate intensity exercise per week in the previous 28 days) was 

65.9%. The percentage of physically inactive adults was (defined as adults doing less than 30 

minutes of moderate intensity exercise per week in the previous 28 days) was 19.7%. These 

figures are comparable to the average in England [34]. 

There is limited data on how physical activity and use of outdoor space has changed during 

the pandemic and these changes are likely to vary due to a range of individual factors. For 

example, people in the most deprived groups are less likely to have access to an outdoor 

space than people in the least deprived groups (69% compared to 87%, respectively). People 

in more deprived groups are less likely to have access to a garden. Furthermore, during the 

first lockdown in Spring 2020, people from more deprived groups were less likely to report 

that they were doing more physical activity than before the pandemic, when compared to 

less deprived groups. People living in urban areas were also more likely than people living in 

rural areas to report that they were doing less physical activity than before the pandemic 

[60]. 

 

Page 48



 

Page 31 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

The potential impact of the pandemic on these risk and protective factors is summarised in 

the Table 3:  

 

 

 

 

Table 3: The impact of the pandemic on risk (A) and protective (B) factors for mental health.  

Red = statistically worse than England average, Amber = statistically similar to England average. 

(A) Risk factor Metric 

Pre-pandemic 

level in 

Plymouth 

Impact of pandemic  

Deprivation 

and inequality 

Deprivation 

score  
26.6 Likely to worsen 

Unemployment 

and poor 

working 

conditions 

Unemployment 

rate  
4.5% 

Likely to worsen 

Large (75%) increase in people 

in Plymouth claiming Universal 

Credit 

Poverty and 

financial 

insecurity 

Living in 

income-deprived 

household  

16.3% 

Likely to worsen 

Increased calls to Advice 

Plymouth for debt advice 

Poor housing 

and 

homelessness 

Statutory 

homelessness  
2.6 per 100,000 

Improved with initiative to 

provide accommodation for 

homeless people, but may 

increase in future due to 

economic impacts and end of 

eviction protection measures 

Crime and 

violence 

Violent offences 

Sexual offences 

36.5 per 100,000 

3.7 per 100,000 

 

National increase in domestic 

abuse-related offences 

Alcohol 

consumption 

Hospital 

admissions for 

alcohol-related 

conditions 

636 per 100,000 

Likely to worsen in risk 

groups 

National increase in alcohol-

related mortality in 2020 

(B) Protective 

factor 
Metric 

Pre-pandemic 

level in 

Plymouth 

Impact of pandemic 

Community 

wellbeing and 

social capital 

Adult social care 

users who have 

as much social 

contact as they 

would like 

41.4% 

Unclear. Reduced ability to 

meet people, but examples of 

increased community 

cohesion 

Physical 

activity and use 

of outdoor 

space 

Physically active 

adults 

Physically 

inactive adults 

65.9% 

 

19.7% 

 

Likely to worsen in risk 

groups  

Page 49



 

Page 32 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

It is helpful to consider the impact of the pandemic on protective and risk factors at an 

individual and community level. Strengthening protective factors and minimising risk factors 

provides a mechanism by which the mental health demands and needs can be addressed in 

the recovery from the pandemic.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 50



 

Page 33 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

6.4 DISCUSSIONS WITH MENTAL HEALTH PROVIDERS 

 

A series of meeting with ten providers of mental health and affiliated services were held in 

December 2020 to inform this needs assessment. These providers, listed in Table 4, were in 

both the statutory and third sector.  

Table 4: Mental health service providers in Plymouth interviewed as part of this needs assessment 

Service Brief description 

Livewell South 

West Mental 

Health 

Providers of statutory mental health services in the city, which 

includes (but not exclusively) the inpatient unit, Community Mental 

Health Teams (CMHTs), Improving Access to Psychological Therapy 

(IAPT), and the First Response Team (a new service set up in May 

2020 as a crisis advice line). 

Advice 

Plymouth 

A charity that delivers an advice an information service around 

many areas including, benefit and tax, employment, housing, money 

and debt. 

Colebrook 

Support 

Services 

Support Services forms a part of the wider Colebrook organisation 

and provides supported accommodation, support to vulnerable 

people in the community to develop independence and skills via a 

number of different services. 

Colebrook Head 

Space 

Head Space offers an out-of-hours service for people who consider 

that they are approaching a mental health crisis, where individuals 

can access peer support in a non-clinical, safe environment. 

Rethink 

Plymouth 

A charity that provides a range of support including a variety of 

group and one-to-one support for people affected by mental illness. 

Devon Mind 
A charity that provides advice and support to empower anyone in 

Devon experiencing a mental health problem. 

Wolseley Trust 

A business and Community Economic Development Trust that 

provides the social prescribing service to the majority of the 

primary care networks in Plymouth.  

Elder Tree 

Befriending 

A charity that provides a befriending service for vulnerable and 

socially isolated people over the age of 50 and aims to engage their 

beneficiaries in social engagement activities close to where they live 

to generate peer support.  

Community 

Connections 

A multi-disciplinary team within the Local Authority that work with 

and in communities to support and empower citizens to make 

sustainable change in their lives. This includes working with people 

who are homeless or at risk of homelessness.  

Community 

Connections 

Youth Team   

Work with young people in Plymouth who are up to 25 where 

there is a need, delivering range of services, projects and facilities 

including youth centres, street-based youth work, and a young 

carers project, a group aimed at young people on the autistic 

spectrum.  

 

Page 51



 

Page 34 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

An open conversation was held with each manager. The purpose of these meetings was to 

understand the impact of the pandemic on mental health from a provider’s perspective, 

which would add a local context to the evidence, and was therefore a more qualitative 

approach. However, the conversations were based around the questions in Box 2 in order 

to guide the conversation and give some consistency between different meetings.  

 

 

Each meeting was recorded, and the transcript reviewed. The information that came out of 
these meetings is a snapshot of the perspectives of a sample of providers. It should be 

treated as a starting point and general assessment of what some mental health providers are 

seeing in their service and the system that can be explored, reviewed and tested further as 

more robust evidence becomes available, both locally and nationally.  

 

The following five themes from these conversations will be discussed below:  

1. Changes to service delivery and workforce 

2. Impact of changes to service delivery on clients 

3. Changes in demand and ability to meet that demand 

4. Current and future challenges 

5. Potential service and system improvements 

Box 2: framework for discussion with mental health providers 

 

1. What services does your organisation provide? 

 

2. Do you have data on numbers of service users you are seeing before and during 

COVID-19? 

 

3. Can you describe any changes to the complexity of cases you are seeing? 

 

4. What changes have there been in your workforce? 

 

5. What was the balance between demand and supply of your service before and 

during COVID-19? 

 

6. What are the changes in service delivery you have made due to COVID-19?  

 

7. What has worked to improve your service? 
 

8. What have been the main challenges you have faced during COVID-19? 

 

9. What is the key change would you make to address change in need due to 

COVID-19? 

 

10. What are the barriers to achieving this? 

 

Page 52



 

Page 35 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

Changes to service delivery 

A high level of flexibility was reported by all organisations in adjusting their service and 

redeploying staff in response to the pandemic and control measures. Face to face work 

reduced substantially or fully and drop-in sessions for clients ceased completely. All of the 

providers reported a rapid change to remote working and remote provision of services 

using telephone, video or other technology to maintain contact and support for individuals 

and groups.  

Some providers set up a new telephone support line, which had the impact of removing 

barriers to access (such as having to make an appointment and having an assessment), but 

providers also reported that an element of this then became a crisis service, which was 

unusual for some organisations and they had to manage that carefully. 

Many organisations reported that client facing work restarted at various times in the course 

of the pandemic when national or local guidance allowed, but this was at a much lower 

capacity due to physical distancing requirements and only for particular individuals where 

there was a particular need. 

Some organisations also stated that they had increased other activities such as social media 

presence, television/radio work and outreach in order to attempt to engage a greater 

number of people.  

 

Impact of changes to service delivery meeting needs of clients 

Many providers commented on the benefits and disadvantages of remote delivery of mental 

health services to the population.  

Some providers reported that many people were struggling to access GPs and mental health 

teams and so had come to other organisations whose service model was not necessary 

designed to manage people with that higher level of need.  

The reduction in the ability for individuals to drop into a service was also problematic. Some 

providers reported that these drop-in sessions are often where people with poorly defined 

needs can come in and hidden issues are picked up during more informal conversations. 

Providers generally reported that the remote delivery of their service was good for some 

people who preferred having a service that was easier and more convenient to access. 

However, there was also an understanding that this did not suit everybody and that some 

people preferred or needed face to face interactions and that those who did not have the 

means or skills to use technology were disadvantaged.  

Some providers commented that it is much more difficult to communicate with and build a 

relationship and trust with people when you are not face to face, which limited the 

usefulness of the interactions. One provider noted that there has been a drop off in the 

numbers attending group video interactions in recent months because of this. In addition, 

the peer support element of some of the services is also limited by the remote delivery.  

 

Changes in demand and need 

It was difficult for many of the providers to accurately comment on changes to demand 

before and after the start of the pandemic. This was mainly because of the changes to 

Page 53



 

Page 36 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

service delivery outlined above meant that the changes in demand were difficult to capture 

and compare with pre-pandemic levels. Furthermore, it is not clear in all cases whether any 

changes can be attributed to the pandemic. However, providers were in general able to 

provide an impression or some data as to the demand that they have seen since the start of 

the pandemic, and this is summarised below:  

 Livewell South West Mental Health: 

o Community Mental Health Teams: initial reduction in referrals at start of 

pandemic, which has remained lower than pre-pandemic levels. 

o IAPT: initial reduction in referrals at the start of the pandemic, which 

gradually increased through 2020, but still below pre-pandemic levels. 

o First Response Unit: received over 1700 calls a month from July to 

November (most recent data provided). This new service may have 

contributed to reduced demand in other services. 

 Advice Plymouth: calls to Advice Plymouth for debt and any reason initially dropped 

at the start of the pandemic, potentially because of the reduction in being pursued 

for their debt. However, demand has risen gradually since then and numbers are 

now higher than would expect pre-pandemic.  

 Colebrook support services: numbers in service and number of hours delivered has 

remained relatively constant over the course of 2020, but the service can only 

support people when they have the staffing, so this is a reflection of the staffing 

availability than demand. 

 Colebrook Head Space crisis café: numbers were going up and up since before 

COVID-19, and demand since the pandemic has appeared to fluctuate, perhaps with 

the strictness of control measures. 

 Devon Mind: Number of contacts rose significantly with the pandemic with the 

number of contacts per month at about the same level as the number of contacts 

that were seen per quarter before the pandemic. Also seeing a higher number of 

calls from people in crisis since the start of the pandemic and opening of the 

telephone lines. 

 Rethink Plymouth: a modest increase in the number of clients compared to the 

previous year, and anecdotally more complex cases are being seen 

 Elder Tree Befriending: a modest increase in the number of beneficiaries compared 

to before the pandemic and have not seen a big increase in need and the service 

feels able to meet that need. 

 Wolseley Trust, social prescribing: the number of referrals from GPs to social 

prescribers has remained relatively constant comparing before and after the start of 

the pandemic. However, the trust have also conducted 1500 welfare checks on 

vulnerable people and 28 % of these resulted in the need some sort of support, and 

so numbers seen in the service are higher. In addition, anecdotally, it feels like the 

mental health issues are becoming more complex with an increase in the level of 

anxiety, loneliness and feelings of worthlessness.  

 Community connections homelessness: difficult to compare because of government 

policy on housing people who are rough sleepers and the moratorium on evictions. 

However, they are seeing more complexity coming through, but that was the case 

Page 54



 

Page 37 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

before the pandemic. Reported an issue with young people and substance misuse and 

losing of their accommodation because of it.  

 Youth work:  difficult to compare because of lack of walk in facilities, where 
additional needs were picked up. Anecdotal evidence that depression and suicide 

attempts in some of the older young people has visibly increased, as well as an 

increase in substance misuse.  

From the reports above the pattern of changing needs reported by providers is not the 

same. It is too early to speculate on whether these changes are as a result of the pandemic 

or if they are indicative of future patterns of need. There may also be numerous 

explanations for them, for example the new First Response Unit and reduced access to GPs 

may have contributed in a reduction in referrals to the CMHTS. In contrast, some of the 

services that do not require a referral but have changed to open access telephone lines have 

seen their demand go up.  

 

Current and potential challenges 

Many current and potential future challenges were raised by providers and these are 

summarised below. Some are current issues and others are potential future challenges. In 

addition, some are COVID-19 specific and others are more general.  

 Staff wellbeing: due to the impacts of higher demand, working remotely and in 

isolation, with limited physical interaction with team members and clients. This is 

especially important for many of these organisations because staff in often have lived 

experience of mental health issues themselves. This has also resulted in difficulties 

with recruitment, integration and retention of staff. 

 Difficult to interact meaningfully with clients remotely: due to reduced ability to build 

a relationship and trust, as well as pick up on on-verbal cues and additional concerns. 

This has made it harder to meet the needs of the individual and more sessions may 

be needed to compensate for this.  

 Reduced capacity and/or effectiveness of group sessions: due to physical distancing 

restrictions on numbers when face to face and lack of peer to peer interaction when 

using remote technologies. 

 Difficulty interpreting and keeping up changes in COVID-19 guidance. 

 Lack of ability to have walk in or drop-in sessions in the youth work has resulted in a 

reduced ability to identify unspecified or hidden needs. 

 Circular signposting: a number of providers commented that for some clients it was 

difficult to maintain motivation to engage if they were regularly being signposted to 

other organisations. 

 Individuals not able to access formal mental health services at the time of need: this 

may be because of barriers to access, or because they had failed to engage at a 

previous time. 

 Poor transition between services at times, for example from Child and Adolescent 

Mental Health Services (CAMHS) to adult services or on release from prison.  

 Uncertainty about future resources and funding for VCSEs. 

Page 55



 

Page 38 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

 Escalation of need due to reduction in formal and informal support during the 

pandemic, and other stressors such as redundancy, furlough, isolation, substance 

misuse, and domestic violence. 

 Additional stressors and implications of the British exit from the European Union 

and the environmental crisis. 

 

Potential service and system improvements 

The following is a summary of thoughts from providers on how their service and the system 

could be improved. These were conversational suggestions and should be taken as such, but 

they do provide some insight into their views.  

 A blended approach of face to face and remote services. Many providers discussed 

the benefits of this when COVID-19 restrictions have ceased as it would allow 

greater access and reach and cater for different preferences of engagement.  

 Ongoing strengthening of collaboration between Community Mental Health Teams, 

primary care, and VCSEs. This was commented on by almost all providers and 

included thoughts such as sharing of knowledge of needs and how to meet them, 

sharing of resources, supporting people into other services if appropriate and linking 

with associated services such as debt advice in a more proactive manner, for 

example with a pathway of referral.  

 Strengthening of public mental health, prevention, early intervention and managing 

people at a more primary level. Some providers commented that need was 

increasing prior to the COVID-19 pandemic and even with expansion of services, it 

would be hard to meet the need. A more proactive than reactive approach would 

have the aim of improving the wellbeing of the population and maintaining capacity at 

a secondary level.   

 Ensuring that messaging on what people can access and how is made as simple as 

possible.  In addition, linking with particular settings such as housing offices and 

foodbanks where these messages may be needed. 

 Awareness of trauma informed practice across the system may influence how 

services approach people if they are signposting them to other services 

 Strengthening of organisations that work in and with communities. 

 The youth service is working on a citywide qualitative and quantitative 

survey/consultation to discover needs, issues and concerns. This will inform further 

in-depth work and then how and what services are provided.  

 Investing in young people friendly outdoor space. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 56



 

Page 39 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

7.  SUMMARY OF KEY FINDINGS 

 

Plymouth profile pre-pandemic: 

 Levels of deprivation in Plymouth is higher than the national average. 

 Before the pandemic some mental health and wellbeing indicators and outcomes in 

Plymouth were: 

o Worse than the national average: 

 Prevalence of common mental disorders and hospital admissions for 

intentional self-harm. 

o Statistically similar to the national average:  

 Low life satisfaction, low worthwhile, low happiness and high anxiety 

scores, and suicide rate. 

o Better than the national average:  

 Excess under 75 mortality rate in adults with serious mental illness. 

 

Since the start of the pandemic: 

 Nationally, there is emerging evidence that at a population level, indicators for 

mental health and wellbeing have worsened since the start of pandemic. In general, 

this has followed a pattern of an initial large decrease at the start of the pandemic, 

followed by a recovery over 2020, that has not returned to pre-pandemic baselines. 

More recent evidence suggests a decline in population mental health in the winter of 

2020/21.   

 There is no evidence for population level increases in suicides or self-harm since the 

start of the pandemic. 

 There is emerging evidence nationally that the mental health of certain groups is 

being disproportionately affected by the pandemic. This includes, young adults, 

women, adults living with children, people with pre-existing mental or physical health 

problems, adults on low income or relative socioeconomic position, adults not in 

employment, certain ethnic groups, older adults who were asked to shield or are 

isolated, adults with financial worries, carers, and frontline health and care staff.  

 Different groups in the population have tended to use different strategies to cope 

with mental distress. 

 The total number of GP diagnoses of depression decreased in the pandemic. This is 

concerning because undiagnosed depression is risk factor for suicide. GP diagnoses 

of depression as a proportion of all GP diagnoses has increased. 

 

Future mental health need: 

 The changes in mental health seen so far may not be the full extent of the impact of 

the pandemic on mental health. This is because:  

Page 57



 

Page 40 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

o It may be too early to see some of the impacts of the pandemic on mental 

health. 

o The ongoing challenge of the pandemic may continue to affect mental health. 

o The pandemic may have environmental, cultural and socio-economic impacts, 

which in turn will continue to impact mental health. Examples include the 

possibility of recession, rise in unemployment and rise in deprivation.  

 Predicting any future changes is fraught with many uncertainties but may signal areas 

that need closer monitoring.  

 The Centre for Mental Health report predicts that as a direct result of the pandemic, 

up to 8.5 million adults in England (almost 20% of that population) will need either 

new or additional mental health support. The vast majority of these will be in people 

who have existing mental health conditions or the general population. Other groups 

identified were NHS works, the bereaved and the unemployed. In Plymouth these 

figures equate to almost 27,000 of the estimated 39,000 people with 

common mental disorders requiring additional support and over 17,000 

from the general population requiring new support for mainly moderate-

severe depression or anxiety. 

 Public Health England describes a number of protective and risk factors related to 

that are well known to influence mental health. The risk factors are deprivation and 

inequality, unemployment and working conditions, poverty and financial insecurity, 

poor housing and homelessness, crime and violence, and alcohol consumption. The 

protective factors are community wellbeing and social capital and physical activity 

and use of outdoor space. The pandemic is likely to adversely affect many of these 

factors, for example, the number of people on Universal Credit in Plymouth has 

increased significantly since the start of the pandemic.  

 

Perspectives of mental health providers in the city 

 There has been a rapid change to remote service delivery to support clients since 

the start of the pandemic, with limited ongoing face to face work at a reduced 
capacity when possible for specific needs. Remote delivery was good for some 

individuals due to the convenience of access; however, other individuals would 

prefer or need face to face interaction. Providers generally considered remote 

interactions to be of poorer quality due to the difficulties of building a relationship 

and trust and ability to pick up on non-verbal cues and additional or hidden issues.   

 Some providers reported that they were managing a higher level of need through 

their phone lines than they were equipped to. 

 Changes in demand and need since the start of the pandemic are difficult to 

accurately quantify because of the changes in service delivery models. Demand 

generally fell at the start of the pandemic and increased thereafter. In some cases, 

this demand has stayed below pre-pandemic levels, but in others it is has overtaken 

pre-pandemic levels. There is also a suggestion that reduced access to mental health 

services during the pandemic may be increasing mental health needs.  

 At the time, providers felt that they are able to meet the need that they are faced 

with, however, there are signs of increasing need across many services. 

Page 58



 

Page 41 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

 Challenges for providers include staff wellbeing, recruitment and retention, having 

meaningful engagements with clients, reduced capacity, difficulty keeping up with 

guidance, circular signposting, difficulties for individuals to access formal mental 
health services at the time of need, poor transitions between services, uncertainty 

about the future and resources, escalation of needs due to the pandemic and 

additional stressors, such as the British Exit from the European Union.  

 Potential service and system improvements suggested were: a blended approach of 

face to face and remote delivery, strengthening of collaboration between mental 

health teams, primary care, social prescribers and VCSEs, strengthening of public 

mental health, prevention and early intervention, clear messaging about services 

available, greater awareness of trauma informed practice, strengthening of 

organisations working at a community level, wider consultation with the community 

to understand needs, issues and concerns, and improving outdoor space for young 

people.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 59



 

Page 42 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

8.  CONCLUSIONS FROM EVIDENCE AND INTELLIGENCE 

 

Bringing these findings together, this report finds a number of conclusions: 

 It is likely to be too early to see the extent of the mental health impact of the 

COVID-19 pandemic. Further evidence is likely to emerge in the coming months and 

years and therefore the evidence base for the impact of the pandemic on mental 

health will become more robust. Furthermore, the future of the pandemic is 

uncertain and therefore the ongoing impact on mental health is also uncertain. 

 Current national evidence and data suggests that already population level mental 

health and wellbeing is being negatively affected by the pandemic. 

 Whilst the pandemic is a collective trauma the burden of distress is greater in certain 

groups. The evidence shows that the mental health and wellbeing of some specific 

groups is disproportionately affected. Some of these groups correlate with the 

groups that are already more vulnerable to mental health issues and so there is a risk 

that the pandemic will widen and entrench mental health inequalities.   

 There is also evidence that the pandemic is having a major impact on the risk and 

protective factors for mental health. In general, the pandemic has increased the risk 

factors for mental health problems, especially in the already more vulnerable groups. 

This may therefore lead to increasing mental health needs and increasing socio-

economic inequalities in the future.  

 In Plymouth, mental health services have seen varying patterns of demand and it is 

difficult to draw conclusions from the intelligence we have so far due to the changes 

in service delivery and because there may be numerous explanations. The new First 
Response Unit and reduced access to GPs may have contributed in a reduction in 

referrals to the CMHTS. In contrast, some of the services that do not require a 

referral but have changed to open access telephone lines have seen their demand go 

up.  

 At the time of interviews, supply of services is generally able to meet the demand 

faced in Plymouth, however, there are a few signs in some of the services that 

continuing to meet this demand will be difficult. 

 National modelling predicts that there will be a very significant increase in mental 

health needs as a result of the pandemic. Escalation of mental health needs as a result 

of the pandemic, may be seen across two main groups: those without pre-existing 

mental health issues and those with pre-existing mental health conditions.  

 Escalation of needs may occur in the general population because a large number of 

people are likely to have had additional challenges to their wellbeing as a result of 

COVID-19. Whilst most people may not develop any or only mild mental illness, if a 

proportion of these develop mental illness requiring service use, this is likely to lead 

to a large rise in demand for mental health services. 

 In the population with pre-existing mental illness, additional needs may develop 

because of the challenges of the pandemic as with the general population, but in 

addition they are more likely to have had disruption to their care during this time, 

which may contribute to relapse and/or escalating needs.  

Page 60



 

Page 43 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

 Local intelligence suggests that there has not been a sudden substantial increase in 

demand for mental health services in 2020. Providers are currently able to keep up 

with demand, but they are facing challenges. However, mental health is complex and 
multi-factorial. Individuals have different challenges and resources, and these have 

been affected in different ways and over a different timeframe. Therefore, a 

predicted increase in mental health needs will not happen suddenly, but is more 

likely to be a slower, gradual and insidious increase. Given the difficulty in managing 

current levels of mental health needs and the general increase in the prevalence of 

mental health conditions before the pandemic, this may in time become very difficult 

to manage in the system. 

 

Table 5 summarises the findings across four key indicators of mental health, looking at the 

situation in Plymouth before the pandemic and the national and local evidence for the 

impact of the pandemic on these indicators.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 61



 

Page 44 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

Table 5: Impact of the pandemic on key indicators for mental health. 

Indicator 

Pre-

pandemic 

Plymouth 

rate 

Known impact of COVID-19 

nationally 

Impact of COVID-19 in 

Plymouth 

Prevalence of 

common mental 

disorders 

18.2 % 

 The population prevalence 

of anxiety and depression 

symptoms have likely 

increased, especially in risk 

groups. 

 There have been increases 

in loneliness, psychological 

distress and low life 

satisfaction in risk groups.  

 The proportion of GP 

diagnosed depression as a 

proportion of all GP 

diagnoses has increased. 

 Demand for open-access 

telephone and online 

support services has 

generally increased. 

 Reduced demand for IAPT 

and CMHTs but this may be 

due to new First Response 

Service. 

 General increase in risk 

factors for mental health 

may further exacerbate this 

in at risk groups.  

Self-reported 

wellbeing 

Low life satisfaction 

Low worthwhile 

Low happiness 

High anxiety 

 

 

4.0% 

3.8% 

7.7% 

22.2% 

 Evidence of increases in 

anxiety symptoms, 

psychological distress and 

low life satisfaction scores. 

 Demand for open-access 

telephone and online 

support services has 

generally increased. 

 General increase in risk 

factors for mental health 

may further exacerbate this 

in at risk groups.  

Emergency 

hospital 

admissions for 

intentional self-

harm  

244 per 

100,000  

 Currently, no significant 

changes in self-harming 

thoughts or behaviour have 

been found. However, 

certain groups have been at 

higher risk, including those 

who have suffered abuse 

and financial concerns 

 No current evidence found 

for changes in rates of self-

harming. 

 General increase in risk 

factors (e.g. unemployment) 

factors for mental health 

may lead to future increases 

in at risk groups. 

Suicide rate 
11.7 per 

100,000 

 Currently, no change in 

suicide rates have been 

found since the start of the 

pandemic, but previous 

emergencies have been 

associated with a rise in 

suicide rate.  

 No current evidence found 

for changes in rates of 

suicide. 

 Some anecdotal evidence of 

increase in suicide thoughts 

and attempts in some 

groups. 

 General increase in risk 

factors (e.g. unemployment) 

for mental health may lead 

to future increases in at risk 

groups. 

 

 

Page 62



 

Page 45 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

9.  GAPS 

 

Gaps in intelligence 

The evidence presented in this needs assessment indicates how the mental health needs of 

certain groups has been influenced by the COVID-19 pandemic. However, there are some 

groups, who are known to be at increased risk of mental health issues that are not covered 

in this needs assessment, either because of the scope of this report or the lack of evidence 

available either nationally or locally. It is therefore unclear how the needs of these groups 

have changed because of the pandemic and/or whether these needs are being met. These 

groups include:  

 Children and young people. Although the needs assessment does comment on young 

people and the perspectives of the Youth Service were sought, a specific focus on 

children and young people was beyond the scope of this report. 

 BAME groups: there is limited evidence nationally and locally on the impact of the 

pandemic on the mental health of certain ethnic groups and their use of services 

 Victims of domestic abuse and crime. 

 People who are homeless or at risk of homelessness. 

 Carers and healthcare workers: There is national evidence that the mental health of 

these groups have been adversely affected, however, it is unclear if the mental health 

needs of these groups are being met locally. 

 

Gaps in service provision 

The findings from this needs assessment suggests that particular groups that are more likely 

to have gaps in mental health support as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic: 

 Young people: evidence suggests their mental health and wellbeing is more likely to 

be affected by the pandemic and they more likely to be economically affected for 

example with job losses. Local intelligence has indicated an increasing mental health 

need in this group as well as increased problems with substance misuse and housing. 

In addition, the services provided by youth workers have been severely affected. 

 People with pre-existing mental health conditions: due to being particularly 
vulnerable to the impacts of the pandemic and reduced access to services at a time 

of need may lead to an escalation in needs. 

 People who have a low income, are socioeconomically deprived, unemployed and/or 

in financial debt. These factors are risk factors for mental ill health and the pandemic 

may have exacerbated this.  

 Groups with little or no digital access: due to not being able to access the majority 

of mental health services that are currently operating online as well as having less 
readily available informal support of family and friends. People who do now know 

how to use digital technology, people with limited finances or means to purchase 

technology and people with complex lives may be particularly affected by this. 

 People who work in mental health services: due to additional workload as a result of 

the pandemic and providers commented that a lot of their workforce have lived 

experience of mental health problems, which may make them more vulnerable.  

Page 63



 

Page 46 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

10.  RECOMMENDATIONS 

 

The widespread impact of COVID-19 and the social and economic consequences of the 

pandemic have highlighted the urgent importance of promoting mental health and tackling 

mental ill health at a population level. The burden of mental illness prior to COVID-19 was 

already significant and the pandemic is widely expected to increase this burden and 

exacerbate existing mental health inequalities [24]. National and local evidence presented in 

this needs assessment indicates that mental health need may be increasing, despite being too 

early to see the full impact.  

In response to the findings and gaps identified in this needs assessment, a range of 

recommendations have been made. These recommendations use a proportionate 

universalism approach which addresses whole population mental wellbeing (primary 

prevention), and the wider determinants (protective and risk factors) of mental health 

alongside targeted early interventions (secondary prevention), especially for those at a 

higher risk of developing mental illness and improving care and treatment services for 

mental health (tertiary prevention).  

A public mental health approach attempts to build the resources and resilience of individuals 

and communities so that they can face the challenges in their lives in order to prevent the 

onset, development and escalation of mental health problems. It aims to strengthen the 

protective factors for good mental health and reduce the risk factors for poor mental health 
at an individual and community level. This upstream approach will, in turn, impact positively 

on the NHS and social care system and there is evidence that a range of prevention 

activities are cost-effective [61]. Targeted interventions aim to reduce mental health 

inequalities and improvement to mental health services will improve the lives of those who 

have developed mental health issues.  

 

The PHE Prevention Concordat for Better Mental Health 

The recommendations are framed around the domains of the PHE Prevention Concordat 

for Better Mental Health [62]. The Prevention Concordat is underpinned by an 

understanding that taking a prevention-focused approach to improving the public’s mental 

health makes a valuable contributing to achieving a fairer and more equitable society. The 

Concordat is intended to provide a focus for cross-sector action to deliver a real and 

noticeable increase in the adoption of public mental health approaches across:  

 Local authorities 

 The NHS 

 Public, private and voluntary and social enterprise sector organisations 

 Educational settings 

 Employers 

It also acknowledges the important role of people with lived experience of mental health 

problems.  

The consensus statement describes this commitment that is made by signatories to the 

concordat (Box 3): 

Page 64



 

Page 47 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

 

The overriding recommendation of this health needs assessment is that key 

organisations within the Health and Care system in Plymouth should sign and 

work together to meet the commitments of the Public Health England 

Prevention Concordat for Better Mental Health. 

 

This would set a clear direction to the local health and social care system that 

all should work towards a tangible increase in the promotion of mental health 

and wellbeing and the prevention of mental ill health. The public health team 

should continue to provide system leadership, working within the existing multi-

agency groups and networks in the city, to co-develop a strategy and action plan 

for increasing work to promote mental health and wellbeing and prevent mental 

ill health across the system.  

 

 

Box 3: The PHE Prevention Concordat for Better Mental Health consensus statement.  

 

The undersigned organisations agree that: 

To transform the health system, we must increase the focus on prevention and the 

wider determinants of mental health. We recognise the need for a shift towards 

prevention-focused leadership and action throughout the mental health system, and 

into the wider system. In turn, this will impact positively on the NHS and social care 

system by enabling early help through the use of upstream interventions.  

There must be joint cross-sectoral action to deliver an increased focus on the 

prevention of mental health problems and the promotion of good mental health at a 

local level. This should draw on the expertise of people with lived experience of mental 

health problems, and the wider community, to identify solutions and promote equity.  

We will promote a prevention-focused approach towards improving the public’s 

mental health, as all our organisations have a role to play.  

We will work collaboratively across organisational boundaries and disciplines to secure 

place-based improvements that are tailored to local needs and assets, in turn 

increasing sustainability and the effective use of resources.  

We will build the capacity and capability across our workforce to prevent mental 

health problems and promote good mental health, as outlined in the Public Mental 

Health Leadership and Workforce Development Framework Call to Action. 

We believe local areas will benefit from adopting the Prevention Concordat for Better 

Mental Health.  

We are committed to supporting local authorities, policy makers, NHS clinical 

commissioning groups and other commissioners, service providers, employers and the 

voluntary and community sector to adopt this concordat and its approach.  

 

Page 65



 

Page 48 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

The five domains of the concordat are:  

 Understanding local needs and assets 

 Working together 

 Taking action for prevention and promotion, including reducing health inequalities 

 Defining success and measuring outcomes 

 Leadership and direction 

 

Examples of actions that can be taken within each domain are: 

 

Understanding local needs and assets 

 Share the results of this needs assessment widely across mental health and wider 

partners in the city.  

 Undertake a specific children and young people COVID-19 emotional health and 

wellbeing needs assessment to complement the findings from this report. This is 

particularly important so that a life course approach can be taken, which 

acknowledges that mental health risk is often determined in childhood.  

 Continuing to monitor the emerging evidence for the impact of COVID-19 on 

mental health and mental health inequalities. This includes monitoring national 

evidence particularly via the PHE COVID-19 mental health and wellbeing surveillance 

reports [2]. 

 Undertake a BAME audit of service within the mental health system, to review how 

equitable our services are.  

 Undertake a city-wide consultation, for example via the Plymouth Survey or in a 

bespoke piece of work to understand the wellbeing and needs of different population 

groups in the city. This should be a coordinated effort between organisations to 

avoid over-surveying the population and could be repeated at specified time intervals 

to monitor ongoing changes. Further active consultation may be required to 

understand the needs of particular harder to reach groups such as people with 

complex lives (characterised by a combination of substance/alcohol misuse, 

homelessness and mental health issues) victims of domestic abuse. 

 Close monitoring of demand for mental health services at different levels in the city 

so that early signals of increasing need can be identified.  

 Further our understanding of the local COVID-19 impact on the wider determinants 

of mental health. In particular poverty, deprivation, financial issues and debt and 

unemployment, which are likely to have been impacted by the pandemic.  

 

 

Working together 

There are many examples of good partnership working in Plymouth within the mental health 

sector. This is evident in the collaboration across sectors in the various mental health 

Page 66



 

Page 49 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

boards and for a in the city, as well as the recent Health and Wellbeing Board Mental Health 

Workshop in October 2020.  

 Collaborative work across organisational boundaries and sectors should continue 
and be strengthened to embed good mental health promotion and mental ill health 

prevention within: 

o The local authority 

o The NHS 

o Public, private and voluntary and social sector organisations 

o Educational settings  

o Businesses 

 Explore how collaboration between mental health partners in the city at all levels 

(mental health teams, primary care and VCSEs) can be strengthened. This includes 

sharing knowledge of needs and approaches that work as well as resources and 

improving how individuals are supported into other services when appropriate.  

 A wide range of local organisations and communities should be actively involved in 

shaping and delivering a joint system-wide approach to public mental health. This 

includes engagement with the community and people with lived experiences of 

mental health problems in order to develop and deliver services that are equitable 

and relevant to our population.  

 

Taking action for prevention and promotion, including reducing health 

inequalities 

 

Population level interventions 

 5 ways to wellbeing:  

Promotion of the Thrive Plymouth Year 4; 5 Ways to Wellbeing (Connect, Learn, Be 

Active, Notice, Give) population approach to improving mental wellbeing and raising 

mental health awareness. This can be alongside with national campaigns such as 

Every Mind Matters, which promotes mental health literacy. These messages can also 

be targeted to more vulnerable groups. 

 

 Promoting mental health and wellbeing in the workplace:  

All workplaces should be encouraged to promote mental health and wellbeing during 

the COVID-19 pandemic and after, for example by completing the Workplace 

Wellbeing Charter [63]. From the limited evidence available, universal mental health 

promotion programmes have been found to have positive impacts in about half of 

studies examined. Common elements of successful programmes included factors 

such as a supportive atmosphere and embedding a wellness culture at an 

organisation level. Modelling suggests that these programmes give a positive return 

on investment to the business in terms of increased productivity and reduced 

absences and modestly reduce GP visits [64].  

Page 67



 

Page 50 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

More targeted measures might include modifying workloads, flexible working hours, 

wellbeing support, the use of wellbeing champions, actively engaging with employees 

about wellbeing, and signposting to additional support. These measures may be 

particularly important to employees who are working from home, self-isolating, 

and/or have childcare or other caring responsibilities. 

 

 Community empowerment:  

Organisations working in and with communities should be supported to build on our 

community assets. Such organisations have built relationships with communities and 

have good insights into the needs and challenges faced. There is some evidence that 

there has been a stronger sense of community since the pandemic and this should be 

built upon. There is a substantial body of evidence on the effectiveness of community 

participation and empowerment and on the health benefits of volunteering with 

research indicating that it brings a positive return on investment [65]. Furthermore, 

the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidance also endorses 

community engagement as a strategy for health improvement. 

 

Wider determinants of mental health 

 Services relating to the wider determinants of mental health: 

Improve the connection between mental health services and services linked to the 

wider determinants of mental health, including financial, debt, housing, food banks 

and unemployment services. The use of these services indicates that the individual is 
at an increased risk of mental health problems. A proactive approach to mental 

health and wellbeing in the context of the pandemic should therefore provide mental 

health literacy training to frontline housing and advice workers and consider 

messaging and support linked to these settings.  

 

 Providing debt advice to protect mental health 

Organisations that provide debt advice should be supported because the pandemic is 

likely to have a significant impact in this area. Conservative estimates from the 

evidence suggest that these services offer a positive return on investment of at least 

£2.60 for every £1 invested, and this could be significantly higher if the greater health 

benefits, including to families and the reduced risk of homelessness is taking into 

account [64]. Cost savings come from reduced GP visits, treatment for depression, 

workplace absences due to stress and depression productivity losses.  

 

 Employment 

Innovative and city-wide approaches to increasing employment rates in the city are 

likely to be needed as a priority during and after the pandemic. There is likely to be a 

significant reduction in employment because of the pandemic, which may continue 

for some time because of an economic downturn and there is evidence of a large 

rise in Universal Credit claimants in Plymouth already. The very close association 

between unemployment and poor mental health and so a public mental health plan 

Page 68



 

Page 51 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

should consider employment and in particular those groups who have been shown 

to be more affected by the pandemic, such as young people.  

 

 Outdoor spaces 

Plymouths green and blue space assets should continue to be valued and supported 

because of their benefits to many aspects of our lives including mental health and 

wellbeing. The Green Minds project is a fantastic example of this already taking place 

in the city. Investing in young person friendly space should be specifically explored to 

so that spaces and places for young people to socialise and develop friendships can 

be provided. These spaces would also provide a place for youth work to engage with 

young people and address their needs.  

 

Mental wellbeing services 

 Messaging 

Ensuring that messaging on what people can access and how is widespread and made 

as simple as possible.  In addition, linking with particular settings such as housing 

offices and foodbanks where these messages may be needed.  

 

 Face to face services: 

Organisations should be supported to re-introduce face to face services when it is 

safe and prioritised based on level of need and risk. 

 

 Digital technology:  

The use of digital technology to deliver mental health and wellbeing services should 

continue after the pandemic as part of a blended approach of face to face and digital 

services. This would provide for different preference and increase access.  

 

 Collaboration:  

Greater collaboration and communication between mental health service providers 

at all levels to improve how service users are supported into other services rather 

than signposted, when appropriate.  

 

 First Response Unit: 

The new First Response Unit crisis helpline provides immediate trained mental 

health support for those in crisis. Getting support for mental health problems at the 

time of crisis has been raised as an issue by service providers and so this service 

should be promoted more widely and potentially expanded if required.  

 

 Addressing loneliness to protect the mental health of older people: 

Page 69



 

Page 52 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

Organisations that support older people in the community should be further 

supported to improve reach, especially during the time of COVID-19. Befriending 

and engaging older people in social activities have been shown to reduce loneliness 

and is overall cost saving, by reducing the cost of depression treatment and GP visits 

and improves the number of people contributing their time as volunteers. 

Furthermore, these calculations of cost-effectiveness do not take into account 

additional health benefits such as delay in physical and mental decline and the costs 

associated with this [64].  

 

 Trauma-informed practice:  

Staff across the mental health and wider system should be trained in taking a trauma-

informed approach with service users.  

 

 Staff wellbeing 

The mental health and wellbeing of all staff providing health (mental and physical) and 

social care should be paramount. There is no caring for others without caring for 

yourself. There is also emerging evidence that these individuals are more likely to 

suffer adverse mental health issues because of the pandemic, a phenomenon seen in 

previous pandemics. A multi-level approach involving mental health promotion in the 

workplace together with early detection and rapid provision support to those who 

require it should be available to all staff.  

 

 Transitions between services 

The pathways by which transitions between mental health services (for example 

from CAMHS to adult mental health service) should be reviewed to minimise the 

additional stress that may occur as a result of a sudden change in support at a time 

of significant change in their lives.  

 

 

Defining success and measuring outcomes 

 System partners should agree set of strategic aims for better mental health that are 

translated into actions and integrated into operational plans. 

 A set of key mental health indicators and outcomes should also be measured and 

monitored, for example:  

o Prevalence of common mental health disorders, 

o Self-reported wellbeing (life satisfaction, happiness, anxiety and feelings of 

worth), 

o Emergency hospital admissions for intentional self-harm, 

o Suicide rate. 

Page 70



 

Page 53 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

 Well as these direct mental health measures, factors related to the risk and 

protective factors for the development of mental health conditions should also be 

measured, for example:  

o Deprivation score and inequalities, 

o Unemployment rate, 

o People living in income-deprived households, 

o Statutory homelessness rate, 

o Violent and sexual offenses, 

o Hospital admissions for alcohol-related conditions, 

o Adult social care users who have as much social contact as they would like, 

o Physically active and physically inactive adults.  

 

 Evaluation should be built into mental health interventions to build knowledge of 

what works locally. A framework such as RE-AIM (reach, effectiveness, adoption, 

implementation, maintenance) is appropriate for the practical evaluation of public 

health interventions as it gives greater depth to the analysis than solely looking at 

outcome measures.  

 

Leadership and direction 

 Plymouth City Council’s public health team should continue to provide systems 

leadership for public mental health and continue to advocate for a prevention and 

promotion approach in the existing fora and multi-agency groups in the city; 

including in the:  

o Plymouth Mental Health Programme Board 

o Plymouth Suicide Prevention Strategic Partnership Group 

o Plymouth Emotional Health and Wellbeing of Children and Young People 

Group 

o Plymouth Mental Health Network 

 Senior leaders across the system should continue understand the value of good 
mental health as an asset to society, consider mental health in all policy decisions and 

make sure that a wide range of organisations address public mental health and are 

held to account for jointly agreed actions. The Health and Wellbeing Board Mental 

Health Workshop in October 2020 was a demonstration of leadership from across 

the system in this area.  

 

 

 

 

Page 71



 

Page 54 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

References 

 

[1]  Public Health England, "Mental Health and Wellbeing JSNA," [Online]. Available: 

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/mh-jsna. [Accessed 

26 November 2020]. 

[2]  Public Health England, "COVID-19: mental health and wellbeing surveillance report," 

2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/covid-19-

mental-health-and-wellbeing-surveillance-report. [Accessed 05 May 2021]. 

[3]  Plymouth City Council, "The Plymouth Report," 2019. 

[4]  R. Dodge, A. Daly, J. Huyton and L. Sanders, "The challenge of defining wellbeing," 

International Journal of Wellbeing, vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 222-235, 2012.  

[5]  The Independent Mental Health Taskforce to the NHS in England, "The Five Year 

Foward View for Mental Health," 2016. 

[6]  University College London, "COVID-19 Social Study," 2020. [Online]. Available: 

https://www.covidsocialstudy.org/results. [Accessed 14 December 2020]. 

[7]  Office for National Statistics, "Coronavirus and the social impacts on Great Britain," 

2020. [Online]. Available: 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healtha

ndwellbeing/bulletins/coronavirusandthesocialimpactsongreatbritain/20november202

0. [Accessed 14 December 2020]. 

[8]  M. Shelvin, O. McBride, J. Murphy and Others, "STUDY: Anxiety, Depression, 

Traumatic Stress and COVID-19 Related Anxiety in the UK General Population 

During the COVID-19 Pandemic," 2020.  

[9]  R. Jia, K. Ayling, T. Chalder and Others, "Mental health in the UK during the 

COVID-19 pandemic: early observations," medRxiv, 2020.  

[10]  N. Kapur, C. Clements, L. Appleby and Others, "Effects of the COVID-19 pandemic 

on self-harm," The Lancet Psychiatry, vol. 8, no. 2, p. E4, 2021.  

[11]  E. Paul and D. Fancourt, "Factors influencing self-harm thoughts and self-harm 

behaviours over the first 45 weeks of the COVID-19 pandemic in the UK: a 

longitudinal analysis of 48,446 adults," medRxiv, 2021.  

[12]  E. Iob, A. Steptoe and D. Fancourt, "Abuse, self-harm and suicidal ideation in the UK 

during the COVID-19 pandemic," The British Journal of Psychiatry, vol. 217, pp. 543-

546, 2020.  

[13]  A. John, C. Okolie, E. Eyles and Others, "The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on 

self-harm and suicide behaviour: a living systematic review," F1000 Res, 2020.  

[14]  L. Appleby, N. Richards, S. Ibrahim and Others, "Suicide in England in the COVID-19 

pandemic: Early observational data from real time surveillance," The Lancet Regional 

Health Europe, 2021.  

[15]  T. Zortea, C. Brenna, M. Joyce and Others, "The impact of infectious disease-related 

public health emergencies on suicide, suicidal behaviour and suicidal thoughts: a 

systematic review," Crisis, pp. 1-14, 2020.  

[16]  A. Reeves, M. McKee and D. Stuckler, "Economic suicides in the Great Recession in 

Europe and North America," BJPsych, vol. 205, no. 3, pp. 246-247, 2018.  

[17]  H. Yang, W. Chen, Y. Hu and Others, "Pre-pandemic psychiatric disorders and risk 

of COVID-19: a cohort analysis in the UK Biobank," The Lancet. Healthy Longevity, 

vol. 1, no. 2, pp. E69-E79, 2020.  

Page 72



 

Page 55 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

[18]  E. Iob, P. Frank, A. Steptoe and Others, "Levels of Severity of Depressive Symptoms 

Among At-Risk Groups in the UK During the COVID-19 Pandemic," JAMA Netw 

Open, 2020.  

[19]  F. Bu, A. Steptoe and D. Fancourt, "Loneliness during strict lockdown: trajectories 

and predictors during the COVID-19 pandemic in 28,217 adults in the UK," medRxiv, 

2020.  

[20]  F. Bu, A. Steptoe and D. Fancourt, "Who is lonely in lockdown? Cross-section 

analyses of predictors of loneliness before and during the pandemic," Public Health, 

2020.  

[21]  L. Wright, A. Steptoe and D. Fancourt, "How are adversities during COVID-19 

affecting mental health? Differential associations for worries and experiences and 

implications for policy," medRxiv, 2020.  

[22]  T. Chandola, M. Kumari, C. L. Booker and J. M. Benzeval, "The mental health impact 

of COVID-19 and pandemic related stressors among adults in the UK," medRxiv, 

2020.  

[23]  B. Burchell, S. Wang, D. Kamerade and Others, "Cut hours, not people: no work 

furlough, short hours and mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic in the UK," 

Centre for Business Research, University of Cambridge, 2020. 

[24]  Editorial, The Lancet Public Health, 2020.  

[25]  Public Health England, "Local suicide prevention planning: A practice resource," 

2020. 

[26]  Office for National Statistics, "Coronavirus and GP diagnosed depression in England: 

2020," 2021. [Online]. Available: 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/mental

health/bulletins/coronavirusandgpdiagnoseddepressioninengland2020/coronavirusand

gpdiagnoseddepressioninengland2020. [Accessed 06 May 2021]. 

[27]  Royal College of Psychiatrists, "Analysis of fifth COVID-19 RCPsych member survey 

- indirect harms," September 2020. 

[28]  Centre for Mental Health, "Covid-19 and the nation's mental health: Forecasting 

needs and risks in the UK: October 2020," 2020. 

[29]  Faculty of Public Health and Mental Health Foundation, "Better Mental Health for 

All: A Public Health Approach to Mental Health Improvement," 2016. 

[30]  HM Government, "No health without mental health," 2011. 

[31]  G. Waddell and K. Burton, "Is work good for your health and well-being?," 2006. 

[32]  H. Meltzer, N. Singleton, A. Lee and Others, "The Social and Economic 

Circumstances of Adults with Mental Disorders," Office for National Statistics, 2002. 

[33]  University of Cambridge, "Zero-hours contracts are 'tip of the iceberg' of damaging 

shift work, say researchers," 2014. [Online]. Available: 

https://www.cam.ac.uk/research/news/zero-hours-contracts-are-tip-of-the-iceberg-

of-damaging-shift-work-say-researchers. [Accessed 05 January 2021]. 

[34]  Public Health England, "Public Health Profiles," [Online]. Available: 

https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/. [Accessed 07 May 2021]. 

[35]  Department for Work and Pensions, "Universal Credit statistics," 2020. [Online]. 

Available: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/universal-credit-statistics-29-

april-2013-to-12-november-2020. [Accessed 05 January 2021]. 

Page 73



 

Page 56 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

[36]  R. Blundell, M. Costa Dias, R. Joyce and X. Xu, "COVID-19 and inequalities," 

Institute for Fiscal Studies, 2020. 

[37]  C. Fitch, S. Hamilton, P. Bassett and R. Davey, "The relationship between personal 

debt and mental health: a systematic review," Mental Health Review Journal, vol. 16, 

no. 4, pp. 153-166, 2011.  

[38]  H. Meltzer, "The relationship between personal debt and specific common mental 

disorders," European Journal of Public Health, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 108-113, 2013.  

[39]  Money and Mental Health Policy Institute, "The Missing Link: How tackling financial 

difficulty can boost recovery rates in IAPT," [Online]. Available: 

https://www.moneyandmentalhealth.org/the-missing-link/. [Accessed 16 December 

2020]. 

[40]  K. Handscomb and L. Judge, "Caught in a (Covid) trap," Resolution Foundation, 

2020. 

[41]  StepChange, "Tackling the coronavirus personal debt crisis," 2020. 

[42]  M. Barnes, C. Cullinane, S. Scott and S. Silvester, "People living in bad housing - 

numbers and health impacts," NatCen Social Research, 2013. 

[43]  NHS England, "Five Year Forward View for Mental Health," 2016. 

[44]  B. Thomas, "Homelessness : A silent killer - A research briefing on mortality 

amongst homeless people," Crisis, 2011. 

[45]  St Mungo's Broadway, "Homeless Health Matters," 2015. 

[46]  National Housing Federation, "Poor housing causing health problems for nearly a 

third of brits during lockdown," July 2020. [Online]. Available: 

https://www.housing.org.uk/news-and-blogs/news/poor-housing-causing-health-

problems-for-nearly-a-third-of-brits-during-lockdown/. [Accessed 06 January 2021]. 

[47]  The Health Foundation, "Emerging evidence on COVID-19's impact on health and 

health inequalities linked to housing," August 2020. [Online]. [Accessed 

06https://www.health.org.uk/news-and-comment/blogs/emerging-evidence-on-covid-

19s-impact-on-health-and-health-inequalities January 2021]. 

[48]  M. Light, E. Grant and K. Hopkins, "Gender differences in substance misuse and 

mental health amongst prisoners," Ministry of Justice, 2013. 

[49]  P. Bebbington, S. Jakobowitz, N. McKenzie and Others, "Assessing needs for 

psychiatric treatment in prisoners: 1. Prevalence of disorder," Social Psychiatry and 

Psychiatric Epidemiology, vol. 52, pp. 221-229, 2017.  

[50]  Mind, "At Risk, Yet Dismised," 2013. [Online]. Available: 

https://www.mind.org.uk/news-campaigns/news/at-risk-yet-dismissed/. [Accessed 05 

January 2021]. 

[51]  J. Golding, "Intimate Partner Violence as a Risk Factor for Mental Disorders: A 

Meta-Analysis," Journal of Family Violence, vol. 14, pp. 99-132, 1999.  

[52]  Office for National Statistics, "Domestic abuse during the coronavirus (COVID-19) 

pandemic, England and Wales: November 2020," 2020. 

[53]  Centre for Mental Health and Institute of Alcohol Studies, "Alcohol and mental 

health: Policy and practice in England," 2018. 

[54]  I. Finlay and I. Gilmore, "Covid-19 and alcohol—a dangerous cocktail," The BMJ, 

2020.  

Page 74



 

Page 57 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

[55]  YouGov, "How are British drinking habits shifting under lockdown?," 2020. [Online]. 

Available: https://yougov.co.uk/topics/food/articles-reports/2020/04/08/how-are-

british-drinking-habits-shifting-under-loc. [Accessed 07 May 2021]. 

[56]  Office for National Statistics, "Quarterly alcohol-specific deaths in England and 

Wales: 2001 to 2019 registrations and Quarter 1 (Jan to Mar) to Quarter 4 (Oct to 

Dec) 2020 provisional registrations," 2021. [Online]. Available: 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/d

eaths/bulletins/quarterlyalcoholspecificdeathsinenglandandwales/2001to2019registrat

ionsandquarter1jantomartoquarter4octtodec2020provisionalregistrations. [Accessed 

07 May 2021]. 

[57]  "Mutual aid0," 2020. [Online]. Available: https://www.mutual-aid.co.uk/. [Accessed 07 

January 2021]. 

[58]  Office for National Statistics, "Coronavirus and the social impacts on Great Britain: 

23 April 2020," [Online]. Available: 

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/healtha

ndwellbeing/bulletins/coronavirusandthesocialimpactsongreatbritain/23april2020#cop

ing-whilst-staying-at-home-and-community-support-networks. [Accessed 07 January 

2021]. 

[59]  Public Health England, "Improving access to greenspace. A new review for 2020," 

2020. 

[60]  Public Health England, "Wider Impacts of COVID-19 on Health (WICH) monitoring 

tool," [Online]. Available: https://analytics.phe.gov.uk/apps/covid-19-indirect-effects/. 

[Accessed 07 May 2021]. 

[61]  Public Health England, "Commissioning Cost-Effective Services for Promotion of 

Mental Health and Wellbeing and Prevention of Mental Ill-Health," 2017. 

[62]  Public Health England, "Prevention Concordat for Better Mental Health," 2020. 

[Online]. Available: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/prevention-

concordat-for-better-mental-health-consensus-statement/prevention-concordat-for-

better-mental-health. [Accessed 23 April 2021]. 

[63]  "Workplace Wellbeing Charter," [Online]. Available: 
https://www.wellbeingcharter.org.uk/the-charter/. [Accessed 29 January 2020]. 

[64]  Public Health England, "Commissioning Cost-Effective Services for Promotion of 

Mental Health and Wellbeing and Prevention of Mental Ill-Health," 2017. 

[65]  Public Health England and NHS England, "A guide to community-centred approaches 

for health and wellbeing," 2015. 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 75



 

Page 58 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

APPENDIX 1 

 

The Centre for Mental Health devised a toolkit for local areas to calculate the forecasted 

demand for mental health services resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic. Local data can 

be inputted into the model to provide local forecasts of new service demand as a result of 

the pandemic (Covid-19 Forecast Modelling Toolkit | Centre for Mental Health).  

The data that was required to be inputted into the model and how that data was calculated 

is set out below:  

 

Population 

group 
Calculations and assumptions 

Estimated 

number of 

people in 

population 

group in 

Plymouth 

Estimated 

new 

demand 

for mental 

health 

services in 

Plymouth 

People (>16 

years) 
without pre-

existing 

mental 

health 

conditions 

 Plymouth mid-year 2017 population was 

263,070. The under 16 years population 

was 47,120, so the over age 16 population 
of Plymouth was 215,950. (Plymouth 

Report | PLYMOUTH.GOV.UK) 

 The prevalence of common mental 

disorders in Plymouth in those over 16 

years old is 39,279 (Public Health Profiles - 

PHE). 

176,671 15,360 

People (> 16 

years) with 

pre-existing 

mental 

health 

conditions 

 The prevalence of common mental 

disorders in Plymouth in those over 16 

years old is 39,279 (Public Health Profiles - 

PHE). 

39,279 26,767 

Healthcare 

workers 

 The number of Plymouth residents who 

are NHS workers is not accurately known.  

 The number of the number of full-time 

equivalent professionally qualified clinical 

staff (includes all doctors, nurses and health 

visitors, midwives, ambulance staff and 

scientific, therapeutic and technical staff) 

working in University Hospitals Plymouth 

(UHP) in March 2020 was used as a proxy 

(Microsoft Power BI).  

However, it is likely that some staff at UHP 

do not live in Plymouth and some 

Plymouth residents work in acute 

healthcare outside of UHP. This figure also 

does not take into account primary care or 

social care staff.  

3,761 838 

Page 76

https://www.centreformentalhealth.org.uk/covid-19-forecast-modelling-toolkit
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/publichealth/factsandfiguresjointstrategicneedsassessment/plymouthreport
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/publichealth/factsandfiguresjointstrategicneedsassessment/plymouthreport
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/
https://fingertips.phe.org.uk/
https://app.powerbi.com/view?r=eyJrIjoiYTlhMTAzNDEtMzQ2Ny00MDRjLWIyZTAtMTY2ZGVlZmJhMjEwIiwidCI6IjUwZjYwNzFmLWJiZmUtNDAxYS04ODAzLTY3Mzc0OGU2MjllMiIsImMiOjh9


 

Page 59 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

People 

recovering 

from severe 

COVID-19 

 There is no easily available data on the 

total number of patients who required 

mechanical ventilation for COVID-19. 

 As of 5 May 2021, University Hospitals 

Plymouth admitted a total 1,272 patients 

with COVID-19 (Healthcare | Coronavirus 

in the UK (data.gov.uk)).  

 Data on COVID-19 patients who required 

mechanical ventilation is provided daily and 

not as a cumulative total. At each of the 

three peaks of hospital admissions the 

number of patients on a mechanical 

ventilation bed was on average one seventh 

of the number of patients admitted to 

hospital.  

 Assuming that one seventh of the total 

hospital admissions required mechanical 

ventilation, this would give a total of 182 

people who required mechanical ventilation 

in University Hospitals Plymouth since the 

start of the pandemic.    

 This assumes that all patients in UHP were 
Plymouth residents, whereas in reality a 

significant proportion of patients would be 

Plymouth or Devon residents. This figure 

also does not take into account those who 

passed away.  

182 42 

Adult family 

members of 

those 

recovering 

from severe 

COVID-19 

 The model uses the figure from the 

number of people who are recovering from 

severe COVID-19 and multiples this by 

1.47, which is the average family size (2.47) 

minus one (the patient). 

268 27 

Bereaved 

people 

 The model quires input of the total deaths 

in Plymouth between 20 March 2020 to 30 

July 2020 when visiting restrictions were in 

place. There after only deaths from 

COVID-19 should be used. 

 In Plymouth between 20 March 2020 and 
30 July 2020, 990 people passed away 

(Death registrations and occurrences by 

local authority and place of death - Office 

for National Statistics). 

 In Plymouth between 31 July and present 

(5 May 2020) 141 people have died and had 

COVID-19 on their death certificate 

(Deaths | Coronavirus in the UK 

(data.gov.uk)) 

 This gives a total of 1131 deaths.  

1,663 175 

Page 77

https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/details/healthcare?areaType=nhstrust&areaName=University%20Hospitals%20Plymouth%20NHS%20Trust
https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/details/healthcare?areaType=nhstrust&areaName=University%20Hospitals%20Plymouth%20NHS%20Trust
https://www.ons.gov.uk/datasets/weekly-deaths-local-authority/editions/2020/versions/13
https://www.ons.gov.uk/datasets/weekly-deaths-local-authority/editions/2020/versions/13
https://www.ons.gov.uk/datasets/weekly-deaths-local-authority/editions/2020/versions/13
https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/details/deaths
https://coronavirus.data.gov.uk/details/deaths


 

Page 60 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

 This is multiplied by 1.47, which is the 

average family size (2.47) minus one (the 

patient). 

People 

economically 

affected by 

COVID-19 

 The model requires the input of the 

number of new Universal Credit Claimants 

since the start of the pandemic.  

 In March 2020 there were 16,050 Universal 

Credit claimants in Plymouth, and in March 

2021, there were 27,671 Universal Credit 

claimants in Plymouth (Stat-Xplore - Log in 

(dwp.gov.uk)). 

11,621 238 

 

 

These numbers were entered into the toolkit, as shown below:  

Page 78

https://stat-xplore.dwp.gov.uk/webapi/jsf/login.xhtml?invalidSession=true&reason=AdminSessionHelper+not+found.
https://stat-xplore.dwp.gov.uk/webapi/jsf/login.xhtml?invalidSession=true&reason=AdminSessionHelper+not+found.


 

Page 61 of 61 

 

OFFICIAL 

 

P
age 79



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Select Committee Review Plan
	6 Mental Health Needs Assessment - Summary
	7 Mental Health Needs Assessment - Full Document

